Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: March 11, 2019 REVISED: April 21, 2019 ACCEPTED: April 21, 2019 PUBLISHED: May 23, 2019

# The jet shape at NLL'

# Pedro Cal,<sup>*a,b*</sup> Felix Ringer<sup>*c*</sup> and Wouter J. Waalewijn<sup>*a,b*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Institute for Theoretical Physics Amsterdam and Delta Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Amsterdam, Science Park 904, Amsterdam 1098 XH, The Netherlands

<sup>b</sup>Nikhef, Theory Group, Science Park 105, Amsterdam 1098 XG, The Netherlands

<sup>c</sup>Nuclear Science Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory,

Berkeley, CA 94720, U.S.A.

*E-mail:* p.cal@nikhef.nl, fmringer@lbl.gov, w.j.waalewijn@uva.nl

ABSTRACT: The jet shape is the fraction of the jet energy within a cone r centered on the jet axis. We calculate the jet shape distribution at next-to-leading logarithmic accuracy plus next-to-leading order (NLL'), accounting for logarithms of both the jet radius R and the ratio r/R. This is the first phenomenological study that takes the recoil of the jet axis due to soft radiation into account, which is needed to reach this accuracy, but complicates the calculation of collinear radiation and requires the treatment of rapidity logarithms and non-global logarithms. We present numerical results, finding good agreement with ATLAS and CMS measurements of the jet shape in an inclusive jet sample,  $pp \rightarrow \text{jet} + X$ , for different kinematic bins. The effect of the underlying event and hadronization are included using a simple one-parameter model, since they are not part of our perturbative calculation.

Keywords: Jets, QCD Phenomenology

ARXIV EPRINT: 1901.06389



# Contents

1	Introduction			
<b>2</b>	Fra	mework	5	
	2.1	Factorization and resummation	5	
	2.2	Separating the jet production and jet shape	9	
	2.3	Hard function	10	
	2.4	Soft function and non-global logarithms	11	
3	Collinear function including recoil			
	3.1	Collinear phase-space and matrix elements	13	
	3.2	Geometry of the measurement	14	
	3.3	Integrals for the quark collinear function	15	
	3.4	Gluon collinear function	18	
<b>4</b>	Implementation and first results			
	4.1	Central scale choice	19	
	4.2	Matching predictions for $r \ll R$ and $r \lesssim R$	20	
	4.3	Scale variations and perturbative uncertainties	21	
	4.4	First results for quark and gluon jets	22	
<b>5</b>	Nonperturbative effects			
6	Res	sults for the LHC	25	
7	Conclusions			
Α	Jet	function for the jet shape when $\mathbf{r}\lesssim\mathbf{R}$	30	
в	And	omalous dimensions	31	
$\mathbf{C}$	Rap	pidity anomalous dimension of the one-loop collinear function	32	

# 1 Introduction

The jet shape is a classic jet substructure observable that maps out the transverse energy profile of jets [1]. It is one of the most frequently studied jet substructure observables, which has been measured at a variety of collider experiments over the past decades. The existing data sets include jet shape measurements in pp,  $p\bar{p}$ , ep,  $e^+e^-$  and heavy-ion collisions, and the range of different center-of-mass energies  $(E_{\rm cm})$  makes the jet shape a unique testing



Figure 1. The integrated (differential) jet shape, shown in the left (right) panel, is the fraction of the jet transverse momentum contained in a circle (annulus) in  $(\eta, \phi)$  coordinates, centered on the jet axis.

ground for precision QCD studies. In order to achieve a meaningful comparison between the experimental data and theoretical calculations, we need to be able to make precise predictions within perturbative QCD, which is the goal of this work.

Jet shapes have been used to constrain parton shower event generators, including their models of hadronization and the underlying event contribution, see e.g. ref. [2]. Furthermore, QCD predicts that the distribution of particles in gluon jets is broader than in quark jets, making the jet shape a useful observable to discriminate between quark and gluon jets (see ref. [3] for a recent review). More generally, jet substructure techniques have started to play an important role in the search for physics beyond the standard model [4], where the separation of boosted objects from QCD jets requires a sophisticated understanding of jet substructure. For recent reviews of jet substructure techniques and their applications, see refs. [5, 6].

We consider inclusive jet production,  $pp \to \text{jet} + X$ , where any observed jet in a given transverse momentum  $p_T$  and rapidity  $\eta$  interval is taken into account, and we sum over everything else (X) in the final state. Given such an identified jet with radius R, the integrated jet shape  $\psi(r)$  and the differential jet shape  $\rho(r)$  are defined as follows

$$\psi(r) = \frac{\sum_{r_i < r} p_{T_i}}{\sum_{r_i < R} p_{T_i}}, \qquad \rho(r) = \frac{\mathrm{d}\psi(r)}{\mathrm{d}r}, \qquad (1.1)$$

see figure 1. Here  $r_i$  denotes the distance in the  $(\eta, \phi)$  plane of particle *i* in the jet to the jet axis, and  $p_{T_i}$  is its transverse momentum with respect to the beam axis. The dependence on the  $p_T$ ,  $\eta$  and radius *R* of the observed jet is left implicit. The integrated jet shape is normalized by construction, i.e.  $\psi(R) = 1$ . Note that it is important for the jet shape which jet axis is chosen. We will focus on the standard jet axis, which is consistent with the currently existing data sets. For a discussion of the jet shape using the winner-take-all axis [7], see refs. [8, 9].

The first jet shape measurements were already performed by the OPAL collaboration at LEP [10]. It has also been measured at the Tevatron [11-13], and at HERA in both deep

inelastic scattering [14–17] and photoproduction [18]. At the LHC, jet shape measurements on an inclusive jet sample were performed by ATLAS [19] and CMS [20] at  $E_{\rm cm} = 7$  TeV. The jet shape has also been measured for heavy-flavor jets [21, 22]. We leave an extensive comparison to all these data sets for future work, focussing only on the LHC data in this paper. In recent years, jet shapes have also received a growing attention in heavy-ion collisions as a probe of the properties of the quark-gluon plasma. The transverse energy profile of jets that traverse the hot and dense QCD medium gets modified in comparison to jets in *pp* collisions. See refs. [23, 24] for recent experimental results from the LHC.

In this work we build upon the framework for jet shapes developed by some of us in the context of subjet distributions [8], and extend it to full next-to-leading logarithmic (NLL') accuracy. We employ Soft Collinear Effective Theory (SCET) [25–29] in order to achieve the resummation of  $\ln R$  and  $\ln(r/R)$ . The starting point is our factorization of the cross section differential in jet transverse momentum  $p_T$ , rapidity  $\eta$ , and the energy fraction  $z_r$  contained in a subjet of radius r centered along the jet axis,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{\mathrm{d}p_T\,\mathrm{d}\eta\,\mathrm{d}z_r} = \sum_{a,b,c} f_a(x_a,\mu) \otimes f_b(x_b,\mu) \otimes \mathcal{H}^c_{ab}\left(x_a,x_b,\eta,p_T/z,\mu\right) \otimes \mathcal{G}^{\mathrm{jet}}_c(z,z_r,p_TR,r/R,\mu).$$
(1.2)

Here  $f_{a,b}$  denote the PDFs for the incoming protons, the hard functions  $\mathcal{H}_{ab}^c$  describe the hard scattering  $ab \to c + X$  and  $\otimes$  denote appropriate integrals over the momentum fractions  $x_{a,b}$  and z (see eq. (2.1) for more details). The production of the jet, including the measurement of the energy fraction  $z_r$ , is captured by the jet function  $\mathcal{G}_c^{\text{jet}}$ . The factorization in eq. (1.2) holds for narrow jets and is analogous to inclusive hadron production, with fragmentation functions replaced by jet functions [30–32]. The integrated jet shape  $\psi(r)$  in eq. (1.1) is then given by the energy average of the  $z_r$  differential cross section normalized by the inclusive jet cross section

$$\psi(r) = \int_0^1 dz_r \, z_r \, \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{\mathrm{d}p_T \,\mathrm{d}\eta \,\mathrm{d}z_r} \, \Big/ \, \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{\mathrm{d}p_T \,\mathrm{d}\eta} \,. \tag{1.3}$$

The expression for  $\psi(r)$  involves single logarithms in the jet radius parameter  $\alpha_s^n \ln^n R$  and double logarithms in the ratio of the two jet radii  $\alpha_s^n \ln^{2n}(r/R)$ , which can be large and will be resummed. The resummation of logarithms in the jet radius parameter R follows from the usual DGLAP evolution equations satisfied by the jet function  $\mathcal{G}_c^{\text{jet}}$ . This was found to be a characteristic feature of single-inclusive jet substructure observables, see e.g. refs. [32–35].

The resummation of logarithms in r/R requires a treatment within SCET<sub>II</sub> due to the recoil-effect of soft radiation, as pointed out in ref. [8]. This resummation is thus similar to that encountered for transverse momentum dependent observables [36–41]. It is accomplished by refactorizing the jet function  $\mathcal{G}_c^{\text{jet}}$  in eq. (1.2) in the limit  $r \ll R$  as

$$\mathcal{G}_{c}^{\text{jet}}(z, z_{r}, p_{T}R, r/R, \mu) \stackrel{\text{NLL'}}{=} \sum_{d} H_{cd}(z, p_{T}R, \mu) \int d^{2}k_{\perp} C_{d}(z_{r}, p_{T}r, k_{\perp}, \mu, \nu) \qquad (1.4)$$
$$\times S_{d}^{\text{G}}(k_{\perp}, \mu, \nu R) S_{d}^{\text{NG}}\left(\frac{r}{R}\right) \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)\right].$$



Figure 2. Illustration of the refactorized expression of the jet function  $\mathcal{G}_c$  in eq. (1.4) in the limit  $r \ll R$ . Hard radiation at the jet scale  $p_T R$  is allowed outside the observed jet. The collinear radiation (blue) is offset from the jet axis, due to the recoil from the soft radiation (orange) inside the jet, since the jet axis is along the jet momentum.

Here, the hard functions  $H_{cd}$  describe how the parton c coming from the hard-scattering produces a jet of size R and of parton flavor d, carrying a fraction z of the initial parton. The collinear function  $C_d$  and the soft function  $S_d^{G}$  take into account collinear and (global) soft radiation inside the jet. We integrate over the transverse momentum  $k_{\perp}$  generated by the soft radiation, accounting for its recoil on the collinear radiation. By solving the associated renormalization group (RG) equations of the different functions, we achieve the resummation of logarithms in r/R. This involves both the standard renormalization group evolution in the invariant mass scale  $\mu$ , as well as an evolution in the rapidity scale  $\nu$ , as discussed in section 2. We calculated the collinear functions  $C_d$  for the first time at one-loop order, accounting for the dependence on the recoil  $k_{\perp}$ . We also include the contribution of non-global logarithms (NGLs) [42], which are captured by the function  $S_d^{\text{NG}}$  in eq. (1.4), but only affect the region where r/R is very small. The simple (multiplicative) treatment of the NGLs in eq. (1.4) is the reason this equation is only valid to NLL' accuracy. The refactorized cross section in eq. (1.4) which is given in terms of hard, collinear and soft functions in the limit  $r \ll R$  is illustrated in figure 2. In particular, we show the effect of the recoil due to the soft radiation inside the jet.

The perturbative order of the various ingredients needed for the  $\ln R$  and  $\ln(r/R)$  resummation is summarized in table 1. We work at NLL' accuracy in the  $\ln(r/R)$  resummation, as this is commensurate with an NLL resummation of  $\ln R$ . Going beyond this accuracy will be daunting, especially in the treatment of non-global logarithms. We would like to stress that earlier jet shape calculations [43–45] are formally only accurate to leading-logarithmic (LL) order in their treatment of the logarithms of r/R. In particular, the contribution from the rapidity evolution, as well as the non-global logarithms, that both first enter at NLL accuracy, are included here for the first time. In addition, earlier calculations did not account for the inclusive jet sample, where the resummation of logarithms of the jet radius R changes the ratio of quark and gluon jets, thereby affecting the spectrum already at LL accuracy.

Finally, comparisons between our predictions and LHC data suggested a significant effect of nonperturbative physics (underlying event and hadronization) on the jet shape, particularly for small jet  $p_T$ . This is consistent with the picture that arises from studying

		Fixed-order	$\beta$	$\gamma_{\mu}$	$\gamma_{ u}$	NGLs
$\ln R$	LL	tree	1-loop	1-loop		
	NLL	1-loop	2-loop	2-loop		
	NNLL	2-loop	3-loop	3-loop		
$\ln(r/R)$	LL	tree	1-loop	1-loop		
	NLL	tree	2-loop	2-loop	1-loop	LL
	$\mathrm{NLL}'$	1-loop	2-loop	2-loop	1-loop	LL
	NNLL	1-loop	3-loop	3-loop	2-loop	NLL

**Table 1.** The perturbative ingredients needed at various orders in the  $\ln R$  and  $\ln(r/R)$  resummation. The columns correspond to the loop order of the fixed-order ingredients, the QCD beta function, the  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  anomalous dimensions, and the non-global logarithms. The non-cusp part of the  $\mu$  anomalous dimension is only needed at one-loop order lower than indicated above.

these effects in PYTHIA [46]. We will include them in our analysis by using a simple one-parameter model, finding good agreement with the data.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows: the theoretical framework used to calculate the jet shape is discussed in section 2, with certain ingredients relegated to the appendices. We present a detailed derivation of the collinear function, relevant for the resummation of logarithms in r/R, in section 3. The details that enter our numerical evaluation of the cross section are described in section 4, and first (perturbative) results for quark and gluon jets are presented there. Nonperturbative effects are investigated in section 5, for which two simple models are explored. In section 6 we show our final results, which we compare to available pp data from the LHC, and we conclude in section 7.

#### 2 Framework

In this section we present the theoretical framework that we use to obtain our results. In section 2.1 we describe the factorization formulae and how they enable resummation. We then rearrange these formulae in section 2.2, to separate them into the inclusive production of jets and the jet shape itself. In section 2.3 the one-loop hard function is given, and in section 2.4 we discuss the soft function and non-global logarithms. The calculation of the collinear function at one-loop, accounting for the effect of recoil, is one of the main new results and presented separately in section 3. The one-loop expressions for the jet function for  $r \leq R$  are given in appendix A, and the anomalous dimensions are listed in appendix B.

### 2.1 Factorization and resummation

The cross section describing the measurement of the fraction  $z_r$  of jet energy inside the cone of radius r around the jet axis, in an inclusive sample of jets produced in pp collisions,

factorizes as follows

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{\mathrm{d}\eta\,\mathrm{d}p_T\,\mathrm{d}z_r} = \sum_{a,b,c} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}x_a}{x_a} f_a(x_a,\mu) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}x_b}{x_b} f_b(x_b,\mu) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{z} \mathcal{H}^c_{ab}(x_a,x_b,\eta,p_T/z,\mu) \\ \times \mathcal{G}^{\mathrm{jet}}_c(z,z_r,p_TR,r/R,\mu) \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(R^2)\right].$$
(2.1)

The parton distribution functions  $f_a$  and  $f_b$  describe extracting a parton of flavor a and b out of the proton, and the function  $\mathcal{H}_{ab}^c$  [47] encodes their hard scattering in which the parton with flavor c, rapidity  $\eta$  and transverse momentum  $p_T/z$  is produced. The subsequent formation of the jet with transverse momentum  $z \times p_T/z = p_T$  moving in the same direction, as well as the jet shape measurement, is encoded in the jet function  $\mathcal{G}_c^{\text{jet 1}}$ . This collinear factorization requires that  $R \ll 1$  to keep the  $\mathcal{O}(R^2)$  power corrections small. In several examples it has been observed that these power corrections are still small for values of R up to 0.7 [48]. Note that this factorization formula is identical to that for the inclusive fragmentation of hadrons, with the fragmentation function replaced by our jet function.

The jet function  $\mathcal{G}_c^{\text{jet}}$  describes the formation of the jet as well as the jet shape measurement through  $z_r$ , and has the following matrix-element definition in SCET,

$$\mathcal{G}_{q}^{\text{jet}}(z, z_{r}, p_{T}R, r/R, \mu) = 16\pi^{3} \sum_{X} \frac{1}{2N_{c}} \operatorname{Tr}\left[\frac{\not{n}}{2} \langle 0|\delta\left(2 - \frac{z\,\bar{n}\cdot\mathcal{P}}{p_{T}}\right)\delta^{2}(\mathcal{P}_{\perp})\chi_{n}(0)|X\rangle\langle X|\bar{\chi}_{n}(0)|0\rangle\right] \\ \times \sum_{J_{R}\in X} \delta\left(p_{T} - p_{T}(J_{R})\right)\delta\left(z_{r} - \frac{p_{T}(j_{r})}{p_{T}}\right), \qquad (2.2)$$

for quark jets, and analogously for gluon jets. Here we exploit that the measurement is invariant under boosts along the beam axis, to set the jet rapidity  $\eta$  equal to zero.<sup>2</sup> We will repeatedly make use of the following decomposition of a vector  $p^{\mu}$  in light-cone coordinates

$$p^{\mu} = \bar{n} \cdot p \, \frac{n^{\mu}}{2} + n \cdot p \, \frac{\bar{n}^{\mu}}{2} + p_{\perp}^{\mu} \,, \tag{2.3}$$

where  $n^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 1)$  and  $\bar{n}^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, -1)$  are light-like vectors, and  $p_{\perp}^{\mu}$  denotes the transverse components. The collinear field  $\bar{\chi}_n$  in eq. (2.2) describes the quark that initiates the jet, averaged over its spin and color configurations, leading to the factor  $1/(2N_c)$ . It contains a Wilson line to ensure (collinear) gauge invariance. The  $\delta(2 - z \bar{n} \cdot \mathcal{P}/p_T)$  fixes the quark field to have transverse momentum  $p_T/z$  with respect to the *beam* axis, and the  $\delta^2(\mathcal{P}_{\perp})$  fixes our light-cone coordinates to be along the momentum of the initial parton. The last line describes the sum over all jets  $J_R$  in the final state  $|X\rangle$ , with transverse momentum  $p_T$ , of which a fraction  $z_r$  is inside the central subjet  $j_r$ . The functions  $\mathcal{G}_q^{\text{jet}}$  and  $\mathcal{G}_q^{\text{jet}}$  were calculated at one loop in ref. [8], and their expressions are collected in appendix A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In ref. [8] this was called the central subjet function and a hat was included on top of  $\mathcal{G}$ , to distinguish it from other jet functions in that paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This avoids spurious factors of  $\cosh \eta$  in intermediate expressions. They arise due to the difference between the energy and transverse momentum of the jet, and are compensated for by the angular size of the jet, which also depends on  $\eta$  because the jet is defined in  $(\eta, \phi)$  coordinates.

Mode:	Scaling $(\bar{n} \cdot p, n \cdot p, p_{\perp})$
hard(-collinear)	$p_T(1, R^2, R)$
collinear	$p_T(1,r^2,r)$
(collinear-)soft	$p_T(r/R, rR, r)$

**Table 2**. The parametric scalings of the momenta of the modes that enter in the factorization of the jet function for  $r \ll R$ .

The factorization in eq. (2.1) separates the physics at scales

$$\mu_f \sim \Lambda_{\rm QCD}, \qquad \qquad \mu_{\mathcal{H}} \sim p_T, \qquad \qquad \mu_{\mathcal{G}} \sim p_T R.$$
(2.4)

By evolving  $\mathcal{G}$  from its natural scale  $\mu_{\mathcal{G}}$  to  $\mu_{\mathcal{H}}$ , the logarithms of  $\mu_{\mathcal{G}}/\mu_{\mathcal{H}} \sim R$  are resummed. This involves the DGLAP evolution,

$$\mu \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\mu} \mathcal{G}_i^{\mathrm{jet}}(z, z_r, p_T R, r/R, \mu) = \sum_j \int_z^1 \frac{\mathrm{d}z'}{z'} \frac{\alpha_s}{\pi} P_{ji}(z/z') \mathcal{G}_j^{\mathrm{jet}}(z', z_r, p_T R, r/R, \mu) \,, \quad (2.5)$$

where the one-loop splitting functions are given by

$$P_{qq}(z) = C_F \left(\frac{1+z^2}{1-z}\right)_+, \qquad P_{gq}(z) = C_F \frac{1+(1-z)^2}{z},$$

$$P_{gg}(z) = 2C_A \left[\frac{z}{(1-z)}_+ + \frac{1-z}{z} + z(1-z)\right] + \frac{\beta_0}{2} \delta(1-z), \quad P_{qg}(z) = T_F \left[z^2 + (1-z)^2\right], \quad (2.6)$$

and

$$\beta_0 = \frac{11}{3}C_A - \frac{4}{3}T_F n_f.$$
(2.7)

For  $r \ll R$ , the jet function contains large logarithms of r/R that also require resummation. This is achieved through a second factorization [8]<sup>3</sup>

$$\mathcal{G}_{c}^{\text{jet}}(z, z_{r}, p_{T}R, r/R, \mu) \stackrel{\text{NLL'}}{=} \sum_{d} H_{cd}(z, p_{T}R, \mu) \int d^{2}k_{\perp} C_{d}(z_{r}, p_{T}r, k_{\perp}, \mu, \nu) \qquad (2.8)$$
$$\times S_{d}^{\text{G}}(k_{\perp}, \mu, \nu R) S_{d}^{\text{NG}}\left(\frac{r}{R}\right) \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)\right].$$

The momentum scalings of the modes in SCET, corresponding to the various ingredients in eq. (2.8), are listed in table 2. If we boost to a frame where the jet and out-of-jet region are complementary hemispheres, this is the usual power counting for hard, collinear and soft radiation, which is why we use this nomenclature instead of hard-collinear and collinear-soft. The hard function  $H_{cd}$  describes how the initial parton c produces a jet of radius R with parton flavor d and a fraction z of the initial transverse momentum with respect to the *beam* axis. Within the jet, the parton d can only undergo energetic splittings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This is identical to eq. (1.4) and repeated for convenience. Note that we adopted a slightly different convention for the arguments of the involved functions in comparison to ref. [8].

of angles of order r, otherwise the collinear radiation would lie outside the cone of radius  $r.^4$  The fraction  $z_r$  of this collinear radiation within the cone of size r is described by the collinear function  $C_d$ . The collinear function also accounts for the transverse momentum offset  $k_{\perp}$  of the initial collinear parton with respect to the *jet* axis, due to recoil against soft radiation. In section 3 we will present the first one-loop calculation of the collinear function for  $k_{\perp} \neq 0$ . The distribution of this recoil is encoded in the soft function, which we separate into a global contribution  $S_d^{\rm G}$  and non-global logarithms  $S_d^{\rm NG}$ . Non-global logarithms [42] arise because only soft radiation *inside* the jet affects the position of the axis, and our simple treatment of them is the reason why eq. (2.8) only holds to NLL' accuracy, see section 2.4. The  $\mathcal{O}(r/R)$  power corrections in eq. (2.8) can be extracted from  $\mathcal{G}_c^{\rm jet}$ , and will be included.

Transverse momentum dependent observables generically suffer from rapidity divergences. We will employ the  $\eta$ -regulator [40, 49], for which  $\nu$  denotes the corresponding rapidity renormalization scale. The factorization in eq. (2.8) separates the jet function into ingredients at the scales

$$\mu_H \sim p_T R, \qquad \mu_C \sim p_T r, \qquad \mu_{SG} \sim p_T r, \qquad \nu_{C} \sim p_T, \qquad \nu_{SG} \sim p_T \frac{r}{R}. \qquad (2.9)$$

By evaluating the ingredients at their natural scales and using the RG evolution to evolve them to a common scale, the global logarithms of  $\mu_C/\mu_H \sim \mu_{SG}/\mu_H \sim \nu_{SG}/\nu_C \sim r/R$  are resummed. The RG equations are<sup>5</sup>

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} H_{cd}(z, p_T R, \mu) = \sum_e \int_z^1 \frac{dz'}{z'} \gamma_{ce}^H \left(\frac{z}{z'}, p_T R, \mu\right) H_{ed}(z', p_T R, \mu),$$
  

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} C_d(z_r, p_T r, k_\perp, \mu, \nu) = \gamma_d^C(\mu, \nu/p_T) C_d(z_r, p_T r, k_\perp, \mu, \nu),$$
  

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} S_d^G(k_\perp, \mu, \nu R) = \gamma_d^S(\mu, \nu R) S_d^G(k_\perp, \mu, \nu R),$$
  

$$\nu \frac{d}{d\nu} C_d(z_r, p_T r, k_\perp, \mu, \nu) = -\int \frac{d^2 k'_\perp}{(2\pi)^2} \gamma_d^\nu(k_\perp - k'_\perp, \mu) C_d(z_r, p_T r, k'_\perp, \mu, \nu),$$
  

$$\nu \frac{d}{d\nu} S_d^G(k_\perp, \mu, \nu R) = \int \frac{d^2 k'_\perp}{(2\pi)^2} \gamma_d^\nu(k_\perp - k'_\perp, \mu) S_d^G(k'_\perp, \mu, \nu R).$$
(2.10)

The anomalous dimensions are collected in appendix B. As is clear from eq. (2.8), the anomalous dimensions of the hard, collinear and soft function should combine to give the anomalous dimension of the jet function, which we checked. The  $\mu$ -evolution sums double logarithms, and the  $\nu$ -evolution, which was missed prior to our work in ref. [8], sums single

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Of course there could be a splitting inside the jet of angular size R that is balanced in such a way that there is also collinear radiation inside the cone of size r at the center of the jet, but such configurations give a power suppressed contribution. This is very similar to the power suppression of the contribution from two nearly back-to-back jets in Higgs production at small transverse momentum, discussed in e.g. ref. [40].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The expressions in ref. [8] contain a typo, as the convolution in  $k_{\perp}$  for the  $\nu$ -RG equations was omitted.

logarithms. We also include the leading non-global logarithms to obtain the desired NLL' accuracy, which will be discussed in section 2.4.

# 2.2 Separating the jet production and jet shape

We now rearrange our calculation in a way that simplifies the numerical implementation, effectively separating the jet production and the jet shape.<sup>6</sup> We start by writing  $\mathcal{G}_c^{\text{jet}}$  as

$$\mathcal{G}_{c}^{\text{jet}}(z, z_{r}, p_{T}R, r/R, \mu) = \sum_{d} J_{cd}(z, p_{T}R, \mu) \int dz' \left[ \mathcal{G}_{d}^{\text{jet}}(z', z_{r}, p_{T}R, r/R, \mu) - J_{d}^{(1)}(z', p_{T}R, \mu) \,\delta(1 - z_{r}) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_{s}^{2}) \,.$$
(2.11)

Here  $J_d$  is the semi-inclusive jet function [31, 32] that enters in inclusive jet production.  $J_{cd}$  is directly related, except that it not only keeps track of the flavor c of the initiating parton but also the flavor d of the jet, so

$$\sum_{d} J_{cd}(z, p_T R, \mu) = J_c(z, p_T R, \mu).$$
(2.12)

Its one-loop expressions are given in eq. (2.21). Note that eq. (2.11) is not a factorization of physics at different scales, as the natural scale of  $\mathcal{G}^{\text{jet}}$  and J is both  $p_T R$ . However, this is why it is justified to work to finite order in  $\alpha_s$ . We exploited that at one-loop order the nontrivial z-dependence cancels between  $\mathcal{G}_d^{\text{jet}}$  and  $J_d$ , i.e. their difference is proportional to  $\delta(1-z)$ , since the splitting where one parton is outside the jet is treated the same in both calculations. This delta function is removed by the integral over z. Combining  $J_{cd}$  with the rest of eq. (2.1), we identify this as the cross section for the inclusive production of jets of flavor d,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_d}{\mathrm{d}\eta\,\mathrm{d}p_T} = \sum_{a,b,c} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}x_a}{x_a} f_a(x_a,\mu) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}x_b}{x_b} f_b(x_b,\mu) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{z} \mathcal{H}^c_{ab}(x_a,x_b,\eta,p_T/z,\mu) \\ \times J_{cd}(z,p_T R,\mu) \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(R^2)\right].$$
(2.13)

By summing over d and using eq. (2.12), this reproduces the inclusive jet cross section in refs. [31, 32]. Eq. (1.3) then implies that this remainder corresponds to the jet shape  $\psi_c(r)$  for a jet of flavor c, after taking the second Mellin moment of  $z_r$ ,

$$\psi_d(r) = \int dz \left[ \int dz_r \, z_r \, \mathcal{G}_d^{\text{jet}}(z, z_r, p_T R, r/R, \mu) - J_d^{(1)}(z, p_T R, \mu) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^2) \,. \tag{2.14}$$

Using the expressions in appendix A, the jet shape for  $r \leq R$  is given by

$$\psi_{q,r \leq R}(r) = 1 + \frac{\alpha_s C_F}{2\pi} \left[ -\frac{1}{2} L_{r/R}^2 + \frac{3}{2} L_{r/R} - \frac{9}{2} + \frac{6r}{R} - \frac{3r^2}{2R^2} \right],$$
  

$$\psi_{g,r \leq R}(r) = 1 + \frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi} \left[ -\frac{C_A}{2} L_{r/R}^2 + \frac{\beta_0}{2} L_{r/R} + C_A \left( -\frac{203}{36} + \frac{8r}{R} - \frac{3r^2}{R^2} + \frac{8r^3}{9R^3} - \frac{r^4}{4R^4} \right) + T_F n_f \left( \frac{41}{18} - \frac{4r}{R} + \frac{3r^2}{R^2} - \frac{16r^3}{9R^3} + \frac{r^4}{2R^4} \right) \right],$$
(2.15)

which is properly normalized,  $\psi_{d,r \leq R}(R) = 1$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>A similar rearrangement was carried out for hadron fragmentation inside a jet in ref. [30].

For  $r \ll R$ , the factorization of  $\mathcal{G}$  in eq. (2.8) leads to the following expression for the jet shape

$$\psi_{d,r\ll R}(r) \stackrel{\mathrm{NLL'}}{=} \tilde{H}_d(p_T R, \mu) \int \mathrm{d}^2 k_\perp \int \mathrm{d}z_r \, z_r \, C_d(z_r, p_T r, k_\perp, \mu, \nu) \qquad (2.16)$$
$$\times S_d^{\mathrm{G}}(k_\perp, \mu, \nu R) \, S_d^{\mathrm{NG}}\left(\frac{r}{R}\right) \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)\right],$$

where

$$\tilde{H}_d(p_T R, \mu) = \int dz \sum_e \left[ H_{de}(z, p_T R, \mu) - J_{de}^{(1)}(z, p_T R, \mu) \right].$$
(2.17)

The contribution of  $H_{de}^{(1)}$  is removed by subtracting  $J_{de}^{(1)}$ , but there is a constant remainder  $\propto \delta_{de}\delta(1-z)$  since  $J_{de}^{(1)}$  also receives a contribution when both partons are inside the jet. This constant is contained in  $\tilde{H}_d$ , where it is multiplied by the Sudakov factor from the evolution kernels, ensuring that it's contribution vanishes for  $r \to 0$  (as required). In our implementation of eq. (2.16), we 1) include the evolution kernels from evolving the ingredients between their natural scales, 2) expand the fixed-order ingredients, i.e. dropping cross terms such as  $C^{(1)}S^{(1)}$ , and 3) include the corrections contained in  $\mathcal{O}(r/R)$ , which can be read of from eq. (2.15).

# 2.3 Hard function

The hard function  $H_{cd}$  in eq. (2.8) is up to one-loop order given by [8, 41]

$$\begin{aligned} H_{qq}(z, p_T R, \mu) &= \delta(1-z) + \frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi} \left[ C_F \delta(1-z) \left( -\frac{L_R^2}{2} - \frac{3}{2} L_R + \frac{\pi^2}{12} \right) \right. \\ &+ L_R P_{qq}(z) - 2 C_F (1+z^2) \left( \frac{\ln(1-z)}{1-z} \right)_+ - C_F (1-z) \right], \\ H_{qg}(z, p_T R, \mu) &= \frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi} \left[ (L_R - 2\ln(1-z)) P_{qq}(z) - C_F z \right], \\ H_{gq}(z, p_T R, \mu) &= \frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi} \left[ (L_R - 2\ln(1-z)) P_{qg}(z) - T_F 2 z (1-z) \right], \\ H_{gg}(z, p_T R, \mu) &= \delta(1-z) + \frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi} \left[ \delta(1-z) \left( -C_A \frac{L_R^2}{2} - \frac{\beta_0}{2} L_R + C_A \frac{\pi^2}{12} \right) \right. \\ &+ L_R P_{gg}(z) - \frac{4C_A (1-z+z^2)^2}{z} \left( \frac{\ln(1-z)}{1-z} \right)_+ \right], \end{aligned}$$
(2.18)

where the splitting functions are given in eq. (2.6),  $\beta_0$  is given in eq. (2.7) and  $L_R$  is

$$L_R = \ln\left(\frac{\mu^2}{p_T^2 R^2}\right) \,. \tag{2.19}$$

The hard function is formally a matching coefficient. At one-loop order it is simply the contribution to  $\mathcal{G}_c$  from the region of phase space where the two partons produced by a splitting of c are not clustered together. The second index d denotes the parton inside the jet.

The hard function  $H_d$  in eq. (2.17) is given by

$$\tilde{H}_{q}(p_{T}R,\mu) = 1 + \frac{\alpha_{s}C_{F}}{2\pi} \left( -\frac{1}{2}L_{R}^{2} - \frac{3}{2}L_{R} - \frac{13}{2} + \frac{3\pi^{2}}{4} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_{s}^{2}),$$
  
$$\tilde{H}_{g}(p_{T}R,\mu) = 1 + \frac{\alpha_{s}}{2\pi} \left[ C_{A} \left( -\frac{1}{2}L_{R}^{2} - \frac{5}{12} + \frac{3\pi^{2}}{4} \right) + \beta_{0} \left( -\frac{1}{2}L_{R} - \frac{23}{12} \right) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_{s}^{2}). \quad (2.20)$$

For completeness we mention that at one-loop order the semi-inclusive jet function with identified jet flavor  $J_{cd}$  is

$$J_{cd}^{(1)}(z, p_T R, \mu) = H_{cd}^{(1)}(z, p_T R, \mu) - \delta_{cd}\delta(1-z)\tilde{H}_c^{(1)}(p_T R, \mu), \qquad (2.21)$$

in terms of the above equations.

#### 2.4 Soft function and non-global logarithms

Up to NLL' order, the global soft function for quark jets can be calculated from

$$S_q^{\rm G}(k_{\perp},\mu,\nu R) \stackrel{\rm NLL'}{=} \frac{1}{N_c} \sum_{X_s} \langle 0|\bar{\mathrm{T}}[Y_{\bar{n}}^{\dagger}Y_n] |X\rangle \langle X|{\mathrm{T}}[Y_n^{\dagger}Y_{\bar{n}}]|0\rangle \delta^2 \left(k_{\perp} - \sum_{i\in jet} k_{i,\perp}\right) ,\qquad(2.22)$$

where the delta function sums the transverse momentum  $k_{i,\perp}$  with respect to the *jet axis* of soft radiation in X that is inside the jet. Soft radiation does not resolve individual collinear splittings, and so soft radiation emitted by the collinear particles in the jet can be encoded by the eikonal Wilson line  $Y_n^{\dagger}$ . At NLL', the one-loop calculation of the soft function comes with the tree-level hard function, so there is a single parton moving in the  $\bar{n}$  direction, resulting in  $Y_{\bar{n}}$ . At higher orders, real emissions in the hard function (outside the jet) will result in additional Wilson lines [50, 51], see also ref. [52]. This complicates the non-global logarithms, but is fortunately beyond the accuracy at which we are working.

A one-loop calculation yields [8]

$$S_q^{\rm G}(k_{\perp},\mu,\nu R) = \delta^2(k_{\perp}) + \frac{\alpha_s C_F}{2\pi^2} \left[ -\frac{1}{\mu^2} \left( \frac{\ln(k_{\perp}^2/\mu^2)}{k_{\perp}^2/\mu^2} \right)_+ + \frac{1}{\mu^2} \frac{1}{(k_{\perp}^2/\mu^2)}_+ \ln \frac{\nu^2 R^2}{4\mu^2} - \frac{\pi^2}{12} \delta(\vec{k}_{\perp}^2) \right].$$
(2.23)

For  $S_g^{\text{G}}$  the Wilson lines are in the adjoint representation, instead of the fundamental representation, and the overall normalization in the definition is modified from  $1/N_c$  to  $1/(N_c^2-1)$ . The one-loop result for  $S_g^{\text{G}}$  is simply given by replacing  $C_F \to C_A$  in eq. (2.23).

The non-global logarithms arise from soft emission patterns that simultaneously probe the jet and out-of-jet region [42]. Since we consider  $R \ll 1$ , the NGLs are the same as in the hemisphere case [53]. Indeed, a direct calculation of the leading contribution at order  $\alpha_s^2$  gives rise to

$$-\frac{\alpha_s^2 C_F C_i}{24\pi} \frac{1}{(p_T R)^2} \left(\frac{\ln(k_\perp^2/(p_T R)^2)}{k_\perp^2/(p_T R)^2}\right)_+,\tag{2.24}$$

where the hard scale  $p_T R$  arises from the emission outside the jet, and the color factor  $C_i = C_F$  for quarks and  $C_A$  for gluons. The integral in eq. (2.8) with the tree-level collinear function in eq. (3.2), leads to

$$\int d^2 k_{\perp} \Theta(k_{\perp} < p_T r) \times -\frac{\alpha_s^2 C_F C_i}{24\pi} \frac{1}{(p_T R)^2} \left( \frac{\ln(k_{\perp}^2/(p_T R)^2)}{k_{\perp}^2/(p_T R)^2} \right)_+ = -\frac{\alpha_s^2 C_F C_i}{12} \ln^2\left(\frac{R}{r}\right).$$
(2.25)

We obtain the same result if we had directly taken the NGL at order  $\alpha_s^2$  of the hemisphere case [42], with R/r as the argument of the logarithm.

Beyond order  $\alpha_s^2$ , we should write the NGLs in terms of plus distributions of  $k_{\perp}/(p_T R)$ , and convolve these with the global soft function and the collinear function. However, at NLL' only the leading NGLs are required, and we may directly take the NGLs of the hemisphere case with the ratio R/r as the argument of the logarithm, which is significantly simpler. This is justified because both the NGLs and the rapidity resummation are single logarithmic series of plus distributions in transverse momentum. All subtleties from convolutions of plus distributions in transverse momentum are subleading, i.e. whether we first convolve these single logarithmic series with each other, and then integrate them against the tree-level collinear function that sets the upperbound  $k_{\perp} = p_T r$ , or directly integrate each of them up to  $k_{\perp} = p_T r$ , is the same to the accuracy that we are working.

The leading NGLs in the hemisphere case are described by a universal function, where in our case the argument of the logarithm is R/r. We will work in the large  $N_c$  approximation (the leading NGLs without this approximation have been studied in ref. [54]). Rather than using the fit of ref. [42], we employ the solution to the BMS equation [55] up to five-loop order [56],

$$S_q^{\rm NG}(\widehat{L}) = 1 - \frac{\pi^2}{24}\widehat{L}^2 + \frac{\zeta_3}{12}\widehat{L}^3 + \frac{\pi^4}{34560}\widehat{L}^4 + \left(-\frac{\pi^2\zeta_3}{360} + \frac{17\zeta_5}{480}\right)\widehat{L}^5 + \mathcal{O}(L^6)\,,\qquad(2.26)$$

where

$$\widehat{L} = \frac{\alpha_s N_c}{\pi} \ln \frac{R}{r} \,. \tag{2.27}$$

The advantage of using this result is that it allows us to test the perturbative convergence, which is excellent for the range of r/R we are interested in. Specifically, there is a small difference from including the cubic term in eq. (2.26), but the effect of subsequent terms is not visible, as is clear from figure 3. This figure also shows that the effect of the non-global contribution to the soft function is limited to rather small values of r. For the gluon case we have  $S_g^{\text{NG}} = (S_q^{\text{NG}})^2$ , which follows from rewriting the adjoint Wilson line in terms of a fundamental and anti-fundamental Wilson line.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Alternatively, one can use non-abelian exponentation, and note that the webs only differ by a factor  $C_F$  vs.  $C_A$ , implying  $\ln S_g^{NG} = (C_A/C_F) \ln S_q^{NG} = \ln(S_q^{NG})^2$ , in the large  $N_C$  approximation. We thank D. Neill for discussions on this.



Figure 3. The non-global contribution to the soft function in eq. (2.26) for quark jets (blue) and gluon jets (green) with R = 0.6 at  $p_T = 60$  GeV. Shown are the results up to two-loop (dotted), three-loop (dashed) and five-loop order (solid).

# 3 Collinear function including recoil

The definition of the collinear function is similar to eq. (2.2), and is given by the following expression for the quark case,

$$C_{q}(z_{r}, p_{T}r, k_{\perp}, \mu, \nu)$$

$$= 16\pi^{3} \sum_{X} \frac{1}{2N_{c}} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ \frac{\not{n}}{2} \langle 0|\delta(2p_{T} - \bar{n} \cdot \mathcal{P})\delta^{2}(\mathcal{P}_{\perp} - k_{\perp})\chi_{n}(0)|X\rangle \langle X|\bar{\chi}_{n}(0)|0\rangle \right] \delta \left( z_{r} - \frac{p_{T}(j_{r})}{p_{T}} \right).$$

$$(3.1)$$

As before, we take the jet rapidity  $\eta$  equal to zero, since the measurement is invariant under boosts along the beam axis. In contrast to eq. (2.2), all this collinear radiation is inside the jet, so there is no sum over jets in X or measurement of z. The recoil due to soft radiation is accounted for through the  $\delta^2(\mathcal{P}_{\perp} - k_{\perp})$ . At tree level, the collinear function is given by

$$C_d(z_r, p_T r, k_\perp, \mu, \nu) = \delta(1 - z_r) \Theta(k_\perp < p_T r), \qquad (3.2)$$

for both quarks (d = q) and gluons (d = g). This simply states that as long as the recoil is not too large  $(k_{\perp} < p_T r)$ , the parton is inside the cone of radius r around the jet axis, and  $z_r = 1$ .

In this section we calculate the collinear function at order  $\alpha_s$ , which involves the collinear splitting of an initial quark or gluon into two partons. We give the collinear phase-space and matrix elements in section 3.1, and the geometry of the setup is described in section 3.2. The resulting integrals are performed in detail for the quark case in section 3.3, and results for the gluon case are presented in section 3.4. We verify in appendix C that our result satisfies the rapidity renormalization group equation.

# 3.1 Collinear phase-space and matrix elements

Due to the recoil of the soft radiation, the jet axis is not aligned with the initial parton, requiring us to take the azimuthal dependence into account in the phase-space integration

of the collinear-matrix elements,

$$\int d\Phi_2 \sigma_{2,q}^c = \frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi^2} \frac{(e^{\gamma_E} \mu^2)^{\epsilon}}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)} \int_0^{2\pi} d\phi \int_0^1 dx \, \hat{P}_{qq}(x) \int \frac{dq_\perp}{q_\perp^{1+2\epsilon}},$$
$$\int d\Phi_2 \sigma_{2,g}^c = \frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi^2} \frac{(e^{\gamma_E} \mu^2)^{\epsilon}}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)} \int_0^{2\pi} d\phi \int_0^1 dx \, \left[ n_f \hat{P}_{qg}(x) + \frac{1}{2} \hat{P}_{gg}(x) \right] \int \frac{dq_\perp}{q_\perp^{1+2\epsilon}}.$$
(3.3)

Here  $d\Phi_2$  denotes the two-body collinear phase-space integration and  $\sigma_{2,q}^c$  is the collinear matrix element squared. The two partons have transverse momentum  $q_{\perp}$  with respect to the initial parton and carry a fraction z and 1 - z of its longitudinal momentum, whose distribution is described by the splitting functions<sup>8</sup>

$$\hat{P}_{qq}(x) = C_F \left[ \frac{1+x^2}{1-x} - \epsilon(1-x) \right],$$
  

$$\hat{P}_{qg}(x) = T_F \left[ 1 - 2x(1-x) + 2\epsilon x(1-x) \right],$$
  

$$\hat{P}_{gg}(x) = 2C_A \left[ \frac{x}{1-x} + \frac{1-x}{x} + x(1-x) \right].$$
(3.4)

We will make frequent use of the angles of the partons with respect to the initial parton,

$$\beta_1 = \frac{q_\perp}{xp_T}, \qquad \beta_2 = \frac{q_\perp}{(1-x)p_T} \tag{3.5}$$

where  $p_T$  is the transverse momentum of the jet.

#### **3.2** Geometry of the measurement

We now describe the geometry of the setup, starting with the case where the initial parton is inside the central subjet. Projecting the jet onto a plane perpendicular to the jet axis, as shown in the left panel of figure 4, we can treat the polar angles as distances since  $r \ll 1$ . The central subjet corresponds to a circle of radius r, and the recoil due to the total transverse momentum  $k_{\perp}$  of soft radiation in the jet corresponds to a displacement of the initial collinear parton by a distance  $\theta = k_{\perp}/p_T$ . The angles  $\beta_i$  also correspond to distances, though the azimuthal angle  $\phi$  remains a true angle.

The condition for each of the partons produced by the splitting to be inside the central subjet is  $\beta_i \leq \beta_1^{\text{max}}$ , displayed in the right panel of figure 4. Some trigonometry yields

$$\beta_{1,2}^{\max} = r_{\sqrt{1 + \frac{\theta^2}{r^2} - 2\frac{\theta}{r}} \left(\pm\cos\phi\sqrt{1 - \frac{\theta^2}{r^2}\sin^2\phi} + \frac{\theta}{r}\sin^2\phi\right),\tag{3.6}$$

The case  $\theta > r$ , where the initial parton is outside of the jet, requires the setup depicted in figure 5. Here only one parton produced in the splitting can be inside the central subjet, and there is a minimum and maximum value for  $\beta_i$ . For parton 2,

$$\beta_2^{\min,\max} = \theta \left[ \cos \phi \mp \sqrt{\frac{r^2}{\theta^2} - \sin^2 \phi} \right], \qquad (3.7)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>We introduce a hat to avoid potential confusion with the splitting functions given in eq. (2.6).



**Figure 4.** Projection of the central subjet of radius r onto a plane perpendicular to the jet axis.  $\theta$  is the displacement due to recoil and is here assumed to be less than r. In the left panel a splitting is shown. In the right panel  $\beta_i^{\max}$  is shown, which is the upper bound on  $\beta_i$  such that the corresponding parton lies inside the central subjet.



Figure 5. Geometry of the central subjet when the recoil  $\theta$  is larger than the radius r. In the left panel the minimum and maximum values of  $\beta_2$  are shown such that this parton is inside the central subjet. The right panel depicts the maximum value of  $\phi$ .

and the expressions for  $\beta_1^{\min,\max}$  can be obtained by substituting  $\phi \to \phi + \pi$ . These expressions are not valid for all  $\phi$ , breaking down when the square root becomes imaginary. The maximum  $\phi$  is shown in the right panel of figure 5, and leads to the following boundaries

parton 1: 
$$\pi - \phi_{\max} < \phi < \pi + \phi_{\max}, \qquad \phi_{\max} = \arcsin\left(\frac{r}{\theta}\right)$$
  
parton 2:  $-\phi_{\max} < \phi < \phi_{\max}.$  (3.8)

#### 3.3 Integrals for the quark collinear function

We now present the calculation of the collinear function for an initiating quark, separating the two cases:

$$C_q^{(1)}(z_r, p_T r, k_\perp, \mu, \nu) = \Theta(k_\perp < p_T r) C_q^{(\theta < r)} + \Theta(k_\perp > p_T r) C_q^{(\theta > r)}.$$
(3.9)

In the first case

$$C_{q}^{(\theta < r)} = (\mathbf{A})_{\theta < \mathbf{r}} + (\mathbf{B})_{\theta < \mathbf{r}} + (\mathbf{C})_{\theta < \mathbf{r}},$$

$$(\mathbf{A})_{\theta < \mathbf{r}} = \delta(1 - z_{r}) \int d\Phi_{2} \sigma_{2,q}^{c} \Theta(\beta_{1} < \beta_{1}^{\max}) \Theta(\beta_{2} < \beta_{2}^{\max}),$$

$$(\mathbf{B})_{\theta < \mathbf{r}} = \int d\Phi_{2} \sigma_{2,q}^{c} \delta(x - z_{r}) \Theta(\beta_{1} < \beta_{1}^{\max}) \Theta(\beta_{2} > \beta_{2}^{\max}),$$

$$(\mathbf{C})_{\theta < \mathbf{r}} = \int d\Phi_{2} \sigma_{2,q}^{c} \delta(1 - x - z_{r}) \Theta(\beta_{1} > \beta_{1}^{\max}) \Theta(\beta_{2} < \beta_{2}^{\max}),$$

$$(3.10)$$

where (A) refers to the case when both partons end up inside the subjet, (B) when only parton 1 (quark) ends up inside and (C) when only parton 2 (gluon) does (using the same labels as in ref. [8]). In the second case only one parton can be inside the subjet, and

$$C_{q}^{(\theta>r)} = (B)_{\theta>r} + (C)_{\theta>r},$$

$$(B)_{\theta>r} = \int d\Phi_{2} \,\sigma_{2,q}^{c} \,\delta(x-z_{r}) \,\Theta(\pi-\phi_{\max}<\phi<\pi+\phi_{\max}) \,\Theta(\beta_{1}^{\min}<\beta_{1}<\beta_{1}<\beta_{1}^{\max}),$$

$$(C)_{\theta>r} = \int d\Phi_{2} \,\sigma_{2,q}^{c} \,\delta(1-x-z_{r}) \,\Theta(-\phi_{\max}<\phi<\phi_{\max}) \,\Theta(\beta_{2}^{\min}<\beta_{2}<\beta_{2}^{\max}). \quad (3.11)$$

The contribution where neither parton is inside is irrelevant, since then  $z_r = 0$ .

We now set out to calculate these integrals. For  $(A)_{\theta < r}$  we use eq. (3.5) to rewrite the x integral and  $\Theta$  functions

$$\int_{0}^{1} dx \,\Theta(\beta_{1} < \beta_{1}^{\max})\Theta(\beta_{2} < \beta_{2}^{\max}) = \int_{0}^{1} dx \,\Theta(q_{\perp} < xp_{T}\beta_{1}^{\max}) \,\Theta(q_{\perp} < (1-x)p_{T}\beta_{2}^{\max})$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\widetilde{\beta}} dx \,\Theta(q_{\perp} < xp_{T}\beta_{1}^{\max})$$
$$+ \int_{\widetilde{\beta}}^{1} dx \,\Theta(q_{\perp} < (1-x)p_{T}\beta_{2}^{\max}), \qquad (3.12)$$

where  $\widetilde{\beta}$  with  $0 < \widetilde{\beta} < 1$  is given by

$$\widetilde{\beta} = \frac{\beta_2^{\max}}{\beta_1^{\max} + \beta_2^{\max}} \,. \tag{3.13}$$

Inserting this in eq. (3.10), and performing the x and  $q_{\perp}$  integrals, we obtain

$$(A)_{\theta < r} = \frac{\alpha_s C_F}{2\pi^2} \,\delta(1 - z_r) \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \left\{ \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2} + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left( \frac{L_2}{2} + \frac{3}{4} \right) + \frac{L_2^2}{4} + \frac{3L_2}{4} - \ln^2(1 - \widetilde{\beta}) \right. \\ \left. + 2\ln\widetilde{\beta}\ln(1 - \widetilde{\beta}) - \frac{3}{2}\ln(1 - \widetilde{\beta}) + 2\mathrm{Li}_2\left(1 - \widetilde{\beta}\right) - \frac{\widetilde{\beta}}{2} + 2 - \frac{3\pi^2}{8} \right\}, \qquad (3.14)$$

in terms of  $L_i$  defined as

$$L_i = \ln\left(\frac{\mu^2}{p_T^2(\beta_i^{\max})^2}\right). \tag{3.15}$$

We cannot perform the integral over  $\phi$  analytically, as it involves the rather complicated expression in eq. (3.6). However, this is not a problem as we have already isolated the divergences.

The calculation of  $(B)_{\theta < r}$  involves rapidity divergences, which we regulate using the  $\eta$  regulator, resulting in

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathbf{B})_{\theta < r} &= \frac{\alpha_s C_F}{2\pi^2} \frac{e^{\epsilon \gamma_E}}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)} \,\mu^{2\epsilon} \,\int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \int_{\widetilde{\beta}}^1 \mathrm{d}x \,\delta(x-z_r) \left[\frac{1+x^2}{1-x} - \epsilon(1-x)\right] \left[\frac{\nu}{2(1-x)p_T}\right]^\eta \\ &\times \int_{(1-x)p_T \beta_2^{\max}}^{xp_T \beta_1^{\max}} \frac{\mathrm{d}q_\perp}{q_\perp^{1+2\epsilon}} \\ &= \frac{\alpha_s C_F}{2\pi^2} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \,\left\{\delta(1-z_r) \left[\frac{1}{\eta} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} + L_1\right) - \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2} + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left(L_\nu - \frac{L_2}{2}\right) + L_\nu L_1 - \frac{L_2^2}{4} + \frac{\pi^2}{24}\right] \right. \\ &+ \Theta \left(z_r > \widetilde{\beta}\right) \left[-(1+z_r^2) \left(\frac{\ln(1-z_r)}{1-z_r}\right)_+ - \ln\left(\frac{\widetilde{\beta}}{1-\widetilde{\beta}}\right) \frac{1+z_r^2}{(1-z_r)}_+ + \frac{(1+z_r^2)\ln z_r}{1-z_r}\right]\right\}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.16)

where  $L_{\nu}$  is defined as

$$L_{\nu} = \ln \frac{\nu}{2p_T} \,. \tag{3.17}$$

Performing a similar calculation for  $(\mathbf{C})_{\theta < r}$  we obtain

$$(C)_{\theta < r} = \frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi^2} \int_0^{2\pi} d\phi \Theta \left( z_r > 1 - \widetilde{\beta} \right) \left\{ P_{gq}(z_r) \left[ \ln \left( \frac{z_r}{1 - z_r} \right) + \ln \left( \frac{\widetilde{\beta}}{1 - \widetilde{\beta}} \right) \right] \right\}.$$
 (3.18)

Note that the factor  $C_F$  is inside the  $P_{gq}$  splitting function, which was defined in eq. (2.6).

Moving on to the case  $\theta > r$ , we also have to regulate rapidity divegences for  $(B)_{\theta > r}$ ,

$$(B)_{\theta>r} = \frac{\alpha_s C_F}{2\pi^2} \frac{e^{\epsilon\gamma_E}}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)} \mu^{2\epsilon} \int_{\pi-\phi_{\max}}^{\pi+\phi_{\max}} \mathrm{d}\phi \int_0^1 \mathrm{d}x \,\delta(x-z_r) \left[\frac{1+x^2}{1-x}-\epsilon(1-x)\right] \left(\frac{\nu}{2(1-x)p_T}\right)^{\eta} \\ \times \int_{xp_T\beta_1^{\min}}^{xp_T\beta_1^{\max}} \frac{\mathrm{d}q_\perp}{q_\perp^{1+2\epsilon}} \\ = \frac{\alpha_s C_F}{2\pi^2} \left[\delta(1-z_r)\left(\frac{2}{\eta}+2L_\nu\right)-\frac{1+z_r^2}{(1-z_r)}\right] \int_{-\phi_{\max}}^{\phi_{\max}} \mathrm{d}\phi \ln\left(\frac{\beta_2^{\min}}{\beta_2^{\max}}\right)$$
(3.19)

Note that we changed the  $\phi$  integration region, which is why the final expression involves  $\beta_2^{\min, \max}$  rather than  $\beta_1^{\min, \max}$ . An analogous computation for  $(C)_{\theta>r}$  yields

$$(C)_{\theta > r} = -\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi^2} P_{gq}(z_r) \int_{-\phi_{\max}}^{\phi_{\max}} d\phi \ln\left(\frac{\beta_2^{\min}}{\beta_2^{\max}}\right).$$
(3.20)

Adding up all the contributions,

$$C_{q}^{(\theta < r)} = \frac{\alpha_{s}C_{F}}{2\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \left\{ \delta(1 - z_{r}) \left[ \frac{1}{\eta} \left( \frac{1}{\epsilon} + L_{1} \right) + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left( L_{\nu} + \frac{3}{4} \right) + L_{\nu}L_{1} + \frac{3L_{1}}{4} \right] - \ln^{2}(1 - \tilde{\beta}) + 2\ln\tilde{\beta}\ln(1 - \tilde{\beta}) - \frac{3}{2}\ln\tilde{\beta} + 2\mathrm{Li}_{2}(1 - \tilde{\beta}) - \frac{\tilde{\beta}}{2} - \frac{\pi^{2}}{3} + 2 \right]$$
(3.21)



Figure 6. The linear  $z_r$  moment of the collinear function for quark jets (left) and gluon jets (right) at tree level (blue) and including one-loop corrections (red dashed), evaluated at the scales  $\mu = p_T r$  and  $\nu = p_T$ .

$$\begin{split} +\Theta(z_r > \widetilde{\beta}) \left[ -(1+z_r^2) \left(\frac{\ln(1-z_r)}{1-z_r}\right)_+ +\ln\left(\frac{z_r(1-\widetilde{\beta})}{\widetilde{\beta}}\right) \frac{1+z_r^2}{(1-z_r)}_+ \right] \\ +\Theta(z_r > 1-\widetilde{\beta}) \left[ \frac{1+(1-z_r)^2}{z_r} \ln\left(\frac{z_r\widetilde{\beta}}{(1-z_r)(1-\widetilde{\beta})}\right) \right] \right\}, \\ C_q^{(\theta>r)} = \frac{\alpha_s C_F}{2\pi^2} \left[ \delta(1-z_r) \left(\frac{2}{\eta} + 2L_\nu\right) - \frac{1+z_r^2}{(1-z_r)}_+ - \frac{1+(1-z_r)^2}{z_r} \right] \int_{-\phi_{\max}}^{\phi_{\max}} \mathrm{d}\phi \ln\left(\frac{\beta_2^{\min}}{\beta_2^{\max}}\right), \end{split}$$

For the jet shape we only need the linear  $z_r$  moment  $(\int dz_r z_r)$  of the collinear function, which we plot for quark jets in the left panel of figure 6. The result depends on  $k_{\perp}/(p_T r)$ , shown on the horizontal axis, and on  $p_T r$ , through the scale in  $\alpha_s$ . First we note that the one-loop corrections are of order 10%, as is typical. At tree level there is a single collinear particle that is simply inside the jet if the recoil due to soft radiation is not too large,  $k_{\perp} < p_T r$ . One-loop corrections allow for nonzero values of the collinear function for larger values of  $k_{\perp}$ . That the collinear function attains a negative value is not a concern, since it does not correspond to a physical quantity (indeed, this depends on our choice of  $\mu$  and  $\nu$ -scales). We also note that the divergence at  $k_{\perp} = p_T r$  from one-loop corrections is integrable.

#### 3.4 Gluon collinear function

The calculation of the collinear function for gluons follows very similar steps. Splitting the calculation into the  $\theta < r$  and  $\theta > r$  contribution, we obtain

$$\begin{split} C_{g}^{(\theta < r)} &= \frac{\alpha_{s}}{2\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \left( \delta(1 - z_{r}) \left\{ C_{A} \left[ \frac{1}{\eta} \left( \frac{1}{\epsilon} + \frac{L_{1}}{4} + \frac{L_{2}}{4} \right) + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left( L_{\nu} + \frac{11}{12} \right) \right. \\ &\left. + \left( \frac{L_{\nu}}{2} + \frac{11}{24} \right) \left( L_{1} + L_{2} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \ln^{2} \frac{1 - \widetilde{\beta}}{\widetilde{\beta}} - \frac{11}{12} \ln \left( \widetilde{\beta}(1 - \widetilde{\beta}) \right) + \frac{1}{6} \widetilde{\beta}(1 - \widetilde{\beta}) \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{\pi^{2}}{6} + \frac{67}{36} \right] + n_{f} T_{F} \left[ -\frac{1}{3\epsilon} - \frac{1}{6} \left( L_{1} + L_{2} \right) + \frac{1}{3} \ln \left( \widetilde{\beta}(1 - \widetilde{\beta}) \right) - \frac{1}{3} \widetilde{\beta}(1 - \widetilde{\beta}) - \frac{5}{9} \right] \right\} \end{split}$$

$$+\Theta(z_{r} > \widetilde{\beta}) \left\{ -C_{A} \frac{(1-z_{r}+z_{r}^{2})^{2}}{z_{r}} \left( \frac{\ln(1-z_{r})}{1-z_{r}} \right)_{+} + C_{A} \frac{(1-z_{r}+z_{r}^{2})^{2}}{z_{r}(1-z_{r})_{+}} \ln\left(\frac{z_{r}(1-\widetilde{\beta})}{\widetilde{\beta}}\right) \right) + n_{f} T_{F}(z_{r}^{2}+(1-z_{r})^{2}) \ln\left(\frac{z_{r}(1-\widetilde{\beta})}{(1-z_{r})\widetilde{\beta}}\right) \right\},$$

$$C_{g}^{(\theta > r)} = \frac{\alpha_{s}}{2\pi^{2}} \left\{ 2C_{A} \left[ \delta(1-z_{r}) \left(\frac{1}{\eta}+L_{\nu}\right) - \frac{(1-z_{r}+z_{r}^{2})^{2}}{z_{r}(1-z_{r})_{+}} \right] - 2n_{f} T_{F}(z_{r}^{2}+(1-z_{r})^{2}) \right\} \int_{-\phi_{\max}}^{\phi_{\max}} \mathrm{d}\phi \ln\left(\frac{\beta_{2}^{\min}}{\beta_{2}^{\max}}\right).$$

$$(3.22)$$

The linear moment of the gluon collinear function is shown in the right panel of figure 6. Its features are similar to that for quark jets (left panel), except that the one-loop corrections are larger due to the larger color factor ( $C_A$  vs.  $C_F$ ).

#### 4 Implementation and first results

This section describes how we implement our formulae to obtain numerical predictions. In section 4.1 our central scale choice is discussed. We then describe how we match our formulae for  $r \ll R$  and  $r \lesssim R$  in section 4.2. The scale variations used to assess the perturbative uncertainty are given in section 4.3. We conclude in section 4.4 with some first, purely perturbative, results for the jet shape for quark and gluons jets.

#### 4.1 Central scale choice

We start by discussing the scales for the regime  $r \leq R$ , described by the factorization in eq. (2.1). We take

$$\mu_{\mathcal{H}} = p_T \,, \qquad \mu_{\mathcal{G}} = p_T R \,, \tag{4.1}$$

as our central scale choice. In the regime  $r \ll R$ ,  $\mathcal{G}$  is refactorized in terms of hard, collinear and soft functions, see eq. (2.8). We will take as their central scales

$$\mu_{\mathcal{H}} = p_T, \qquad \mu_H = p_T R, \qquad \mu_C = p_T r, \qquad \mu_S = p_T r, \\
\nu_C = p_T, \qquad \nu_S = \frac{1}{b_\perp R}.$$
(4.2)

We deviate from eq. (2.9) by expressing  $\nu_S$  in terms of  $b_{\perp}$ , which is the Fourier conjugate variable of  $k_{\perp}$  (not  $p_T$ ). Since collinear and soft modes contribute to  $k_{\perp}$ , one expects that parametrically  $p_T r \sim k_{\perp} \sim 1/b_{\perp}$ . However, expressing  $\nu_S$  in terms of  $b_{\perp}$  avoids a well-known problem with choosing scales in momentum space for transverse momentum resummation [57] (see also refs. [58, 59]). Often one also chooses  $\mu_C$  and  $\mu_S$  in term of  $b_{\perp}$ , but this is not required here. In particular, our choice in eq. (4.2) ensures that the  $\mu$ -evolution from  $\mu_H$  down to  $\mu_C = \mu_S$  is essentially the same as in the jet shape calculation in ref. [45].

# 4.2 Matching predictions for $r \ll R$ and $r \lesssim R$

A common approach to matching different regimes in SCET is to use profile scales [60, 61], that would smoothly interpolate between eqs. (4.1) and (4.2). Unfortunately, it is challenging to simultaneously obtain good predictions for the integrated and differential jet shape in this way. By choosing scales for  $\psi(r)$ , i.e. for the cross section integrated up to r in terms of the upper bound of this integration, one automatically ensures that  $\psi(R) = 1$ , since the scales in eq. (4.1) will be used when r = R. However, the corresponding differential jet shape  $\rho(r)$  tends to have artifacts, since the scales depend on r and their derivatives enter through the chain rule. Conversely, choosing scales directly for  $\rho(r)$ , i.e. for the cross section differential in r, avoids these artifacts. However, the resulting jet shape is generically no longer normalized, i.e. integrating  $\rho(r)$  no longer gives  $\psi(R) = 1$ , because the scales in the integrand are not equal to eq. (4.1) but depend on the integration variable r. A solution to this problem has been proposed in ref. [62], but is not easy to implement.

Rather than using profile scales to interpolate between  $r \ll R$  and  $r \lesssim R$ , we will directly interpolate between them:

$$\psi(r) = \left[1 - g\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)\right]\psi_{r \ll R}(r) + g\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)\psi_{r \lesssim R}(r), \qquad (4.3)$$

which was inspired by ref. [63]. Here  $\psi_{r \ll R}$  and  $\psi_{r \leq R}$  correspond to eqs. (2.16) and (2.15), respectively. The function g(r) is zero for  $r \ll R$  and one for r close to R, smoothly interpolating between the two cases. We implement this using the following double-quadratic function

$$g(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & x \le x_1 \\ \frac{(x-x_1)^2}{(x_2-x_1)(x_3-x_1)} & x_1 \le x \le x_2 \\ 1 - \frac{(x-x_3)^2}{(x_3-x_1)(x_3-x_2)} & x_2 \le x \le x_3 \\ 1 & x_3 \le x \end{cases}.$$
(4.4)

An advantage of this method over the use of profile scales is that we can determine  $\psi_{r \ll R}$ and  $\psi_{r \leq R}$  once and for all before creating the interpolation. In addition, it makes it possible to match LL resummation of r/R to the NLO result in the region where  $r \sim R$ . (Normally this breaks down because the single logarithmic term  $\alpha_s \ln(r/R)$  in the NLO result is not resummed at LL accuracy.)

To determine the transition points  $x_i$  in eq. (4.4), we assess the numerical size of the corrections to the factorization of  $\psi_{r\ll R}$  at  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ , shown in figure 7. The solid red curve shows the differential jet shape, the blue dashed curve shows its singular contribution obtained from the factorization in eq. (2.16), and the green dotted curve is the difference (often called the nonsingular), all at  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ . It is essential that the resummation of logarithms of r/R is turned off before we enter the region where the singular is no longer a good approximation to the full jet shape, leading us to choose

$$x_1 = 0.15, \qquad x_2 = (x_1 + x_3)/2, \qquad x_3 = 0.38.$$
 (4.5)



Figure 7. The differential jet shape at order  $\alpha_s$  for quark jets (left) and gluon jets (right) at  $p_T = 600 \text{ GeV}$  and R = 0.6. Shown are  $\rho_{r \leq R}$  (red solid), decomposed in its singular  $\rho_{r \ll R}$  (blue dashed) and nonsingular (green dotted) contribution that correspond to the power corrections in eq. (2.16).

Specifically,  $x_1$  corresponds roughly to the point where the nonsingular is 10% of the cross section, and  $x_3$  is chosen close to the point where the singular and nonsingular are equal in size. These points are somewhat arbitrarily chosen, and will be varied as part of the uncertainty estimate.

#### 4.3 Scale variations and perturbative uncertainties

For our uncertainty estimate, we take the envelope of the following variations

- 1. Vary all scales in eq. (4.2) simultaneously up and down by a factor of 2.
- 2. Vary  $\mu_{\mathcal{H}}$  and  $\mu_{H}$  simultaneously up and down by a factor of 2.
- 3. Vary  $\mu_C$  and  $\mu_S$  simultaneously up and down by a factor of 2.
- 4. Vary  $\nu_C$  up and down by a factor of 2.
- 5. Vary  $\nu_S$  up and down by a factor of 2.
- 6. Vary the transition point  $x_3$  between 0.33 to 0.48.

We can interpret the first as a fixed-order uncertainty, since it only changes the overall scales and not the ratios between them, which are the logarithms that are being resummed. The second and third variation probe the  $\mu$  resummation, since they vary the hierarchy between  $\mu_H$  and  $\mu_C = \mu_S$ , and similarly the fourth and fifth probe the rapidity resummation. While the evolution kernels are very similar for the variations in 2 and 3, the scales of different fixed-order ingredients are probed: the change in the evolution kernel is (partially) cancelled by a corresponding change in H for variation 2 and by  $C \otimes S$  for variation 3, so they are not redundant. The same is true for variations 4 and 5. Variation 6 probes the uncertainty from our interpolation between the resummation and fixed-order region. We also explored the dependence on the transition point  $x_1$ , but it has a small effect and thus would not impact the total uncertainty.



Figure 8. The integrated jet shape for quark jets (left) and gluon jets (right) for  $p_T = 60 \text{ GeV}$  (top) and 500 GeV (bottom) and R = 0.6. Shown are LL (blue solid curve and band), NLL (blue dashed curve) and NLL' (orange solid curve and band), all matched to NLO. The bands indicate the perturbative uncertainties estimated using the procedure in section 4.3.

# 4.4 First results for quark and gluon jets

In figure 8 we show the integrated jet shape for quark and gluon jets with transverse momentum 60 and 500 GeV, comparing LL, NLL and NLL', all matched to NLO. We start by noting that our resummed calculations converge, i.e. the bands overlap and are smaller at NLL' than at LL. As these plots show, the uncertainty bands are larger at small  $p_T$  and for gluon jets, which is not surprising since the perturbative corrections are simply larger in these cases due to the size of  $\alpha_s$  and the color factor ( $C_A$  vs.  $C_F$ ), respectively. At LL the bands are quite large, and they remain sizable at NLL', even though this exceeds the accuracy of previous jet shape calculations. We believe that this is due to our more conservative uncertainty estimate, described in section 4.3. Indeed, for gluon jets with  $p_T = 60 \,\mathrm{GeV}$ , the NLL' central curve lies only just inside the LL uncertainty, warranting these large bands. For large r all predictions overlap, since in each case we match to NLO. In this region there are no large logarithms of r/R, so it is not surprising that the uncertainties are small. It is hard to gauge whether their size is reasonable, since we only have one perturbative order in this region (at LO  $\psi(r)$  is simply 1). Lastly we note that the NLL curve is not monotonic. That this unphysical behavior arises at NLL but not LL is due to the non-cusp anomalous dimension, whose contribution becomes equal and opposite in size to that of the cusp anomalous dimension. At NLL' this is remedied by the inclusion of one-loop corrections to the ingredients in the factorization formula.



Figure 9. The integrated (left) and differential (right) jet shape for quark jets (blue) and gluon jets (green) at NLL' with  $p_T = 500 \text{ GeV}$  and R = 0.6. The top row shows the result with (solid) and without (dashed) rapidity resummation. The bottom row shows the result with (solid) and without (dashed) non-global logarithms.

Figure 9 illustrates the effect of the rapidity resummation and non-global logarithms on the jet shape for quark and gluon jets, by showing the integrated and differential jet shape with and without them. Both effects enter for the first time at NLL and were not taken into account in previous calculations. They are clearly important for  $r \ll R$ , where their size is about half that of the NLL' uncertainty band in figure 8, but are of course irrelevant in the region where the resummation of logarithms of r/R is turned off. The effect of the rapidity resummation is still significant in the transition region and is only turned off by the matching to fixed order, whereas the effect of NGLs is already small before the transition. The NGLs push the energy distribution in the jet out to larger values of r, in agreement with the trend observed in e.g. ref. [64] for the jet mass distribution. This is clear from the integrated jet shape, and in the differential jet shape this arises through a decrease in the first bin (not as visible due to the logarithmic scale) and an increase in subsequent bins.

## 5 Nonperturbative effects

At the LHC, nonperturbative corrections to the jet shape can be large, particularly for smaller values of the jet  $p_T$ . These arise from the underlying event and hadronization effects. In this section we will explore simple models to account for these effects in our predictions. We will use PYTHIA 8.2 [46] to assess how reasonable these models are, by applying them to parton level predictions and comparing the result to hadron level predictions, including multi-parton interactions and initial-state radiation.<sup>9</sup> When we later apply this model to our predictions, we will use LHC data to fit the model parameter.

In the first model, we treat these effects by simply adding a uniform energy density to the jets. Explicitly

Model 1: 
$$\rho(r) \to \frac{2f}{1+f} \frac{r}{R^2} + \frac{1}{1+f} \rho(r),$$
 (5.1)

where  $\rho(r)$  is the differential jet shape and the fraction f describes the size of the nonperturbative radiation compared to the perturbative contribution from our calculation. The dependence on r/R is linear because it scales with the circumference of the circle of radius r.

In the second model, the nonperturbative effects are again treated by adding energy. However, rather than considering a uniform distribution, we will assume this additional energy is completely localized, thus displacing the jet axis. The location  $(r', \phi')$  of this extra energy is then (uniformly) integrated over the jet. In terms of the differential jet shape  $\rho(r)$  this amounts to

Model 2: 
$$\rho(r) \to \frac{1}{\pi (1+f)^2 R^2} \int_0^{(1+f)R} \mathrm{d}r' \, r' \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi' \left\{ \frac{f}{1+f} \, \delta\left(r - \frac{r'}{1+f}\right) \right\}$$
(5.2)

$$+ \frac{1}{1+f} \int_0^R dr'' \,\rho'(r'') \,\delta \left[ r - \left( (r'')^2 + \frac{2r'r''f}{1+f} \cos \phi + \frac{(r')^2 f^2}{(1+f)^2} \right)^{1/2} \right] \right\}$$

$$= \frac{2f}{1+f} \frac{r}{R^2} + \frac{4r}{\pi f^2 (1+f) R^2} \int_{\max\{0,r-fR\}}^{\min\{R,r+fR\}} dr'' \,\rho(r'')$$

$$\int_{|r_* - r''_*|}^{\min\{1,r_* + r''_*\}} dr'_* \frac{r'_*}{\sqrt{2(r_*^2 + (r'_*)^2)(r''_*)^2 - (r_*^2 - (r'_*)^2)^2 - (r''_*)^4}} \,,$$

The first term in the curly brackets (on the first line) corresponds to the contribution to the jet shape from the extra energy. Upon integration this results in the first term on the third line, in agreement with eq. (5.1). However, the jet shape also gets smeared by the displacement of the jet axis. Specifically, the r'' integral in the second term integrates over the jet shape, taking into account the displacement from the extra energy at  $(r', \phi')$ through the delta function. In the final expression we eliminated the  $\phi'$  integral using the delta function, and introduced

$$r_* = \frac{r}{fR}, \qquad r'_* = \frac{r'}{(1+f)R}, \qquad r''_* = \frac{r''}{fR},$$
(5.3)

to remove any explicit dependence on f and R in the r' integral. Thus we can determine this integral numerically once and for all, to obtain the kernel against which we integrate the jet shape in the remaining r'' integral.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>This is not a nonperturbative contribution. However, we include it, because in our approach initial-state radiation is formally  $\mathcal{O}(R^2)$  suppressed.



Figure 10. Jet shape in PYTHIA at  $E_{\rm cm} = 7 \,\text{TeV}$  for anti- $k_T$  jets with radius R = 0.6, rapidity  $|\eta| < 2.8$  and transverse momentum  $p_T = 30\text{-}40 \,\text{GeV}$  (left) and  $p_T = 60\text{-}80 \,\text{GeV}$  (right). The top row shows results at parton level (blue dotted), including initial-state radiation (green dot-dashed), also multi-parton interactions (magenta dashed), and also hadronization (blue solid). The bottom row repeats the blue dotted and solid curves, where the effect of ISR, MPI and hadronization are either modeled using eq. (5.1) (green dot-dashed) or eq. (5.2) (orange dashed), and the parameter f is fitted.

In figure 10 we show the partonic and hadronic jet shape obtained from PYTHIA, and investigate to what extent multiparton interactions, initial-state radiation and hadronization effects can be described by one of the models above. The top row shows the contribution of each of these effects, the bottom row shows a fit (of the coefficient f) to these effects using one of the models proposed here. We find better agreement using model 2, suggesting that these nonperturbative effects are at least fairly localized in the jet. We therefore use model 2 when we compare our results to LHC data in the next section.

### 6 Results for the LHC

In this section, we present comparisons of our theoretical results to data from ATLAS and CMS. We start with the ATLAS data for the integrated and differential jet shape of ref. [19]. Although the central values of the differential and integrated jet shape are directly related, their uncertainties are not because of correlations, which is why we show results for both. The inclusive jet sample  $pp \rightarrow \text{jet} + X$  was obtained using the anti $k_T$  algorithm with R = 0.6. The jet rapidity was restricted to  $|\eta| < 2.8$ , and different intervals for its transverse momentum  $p_T$  in the range of 30–600 GeV were considered. In figure 11, we show a comparison of our numerical results to the ATLAS data for the



Figure 11. Comparison of our theoretical calculation at NLL' accuracy for the inclusive jet shape  $\psi(r)$  to the data from ATLAS [19]. The inclusive anti- $k_T$  jet sample is reconstructed for a jet radius of R = 0.6 and  $|\eta| < 2.8$  measured at  $E_{\rm cm} = 7$  TeV. Four representative jet  $p_T$  intervals in the range 30–600 GeV are shown, as indicated in the panels. Our purely perturbative calculation is shown (dashed blue), along with the results that include the nonperturbative effects through a model (orange) and perturbative uncertainty band.

integrated jet shape  $\psi(r)$  for four representative  $p_T$  intervals, as indicated in the different panels. For all phenomenological results presented in this section, we use the CT14 NLO PDF set of ref. [65]. We show both the purely perturbative calculation (dashed blue curve) as well as the results after including the nonperturbative "model 2" (orange curve and band), described in section 5. The QCD scale uncertainty is shown only for the final result including the nonperturbative contribution, following the procedure discussed in section 4.3. The parameter f of the nonperturbative model is determined from fitting our central curve to the central value of the data. Its value is tabulated in table 3 for each  $p_T$ interval. At smaller values of the jet transverse momentum, the purely perturbative result and the data disagree significantly, where the perturbative calculation predicts that there is more radiation close to the center of the jet and less near the jet boundary. Nevertheless, we find that the data is well described after including a nonperturbative correction. As is clear from the plots and the table, at higher values of  $p_T$  the nonperturbative correction becomes smaller. Indeed, for the highest transverse momentum interval 500–600 GeV we already find a good agreement between the data and our purely perturbative calculation obtained from the QCD factorization theorem. Because the nonperturbative model parametrizes the effect of nonperturbative physics relative to the perturbative prediction for the jet, rather than through some absolute energy scale, it is not surprising that approximately  $f \sim 1/p_T$ .



Figure 12. Comparison of our numerical results for the differential jet shape  $\rho(r)$  and the ATLAS data of [19], for the same kinematics as in figure 11.

ATLAS [19]	$p_T \; [\text{GeV}]$	30-40	60-80	110 - 160	500 - 600
$E_{\rm cm} = 7 {\rm TeV}$	f	0.23	0.16	0.11	0.062
CMS [20]	$p_T \; [\text{GeV}]$	30-40	500 - 600	600 - 1000	
$E_{\rm cm} = 7 {\rm TeV}$	f	0.28	0.068	0.054	
CMS [23]	$p_T \; [\text{GeV}]$	> 100			
$E_{\rm cm} = 2.76 {\rm TeV}$	f	0.050			

**Table 3.** Fitted values for the parameter f of the nonperturbative "model 2", for the jet transverse momentum intervals of the ATLAS [19] and CMS [20, 23] data that we show here. Note that the jet radius R and the rapidity intervals  $\eta$  differ between the different data sets.

In figure 12, we show our numerical results for the differential jet shape  $\rho(r)$  in comparison to the corresponding ATLAS data for the same jet kinematics. We use the same f values for the nonperturbative model as for the integrated jet shape. Again we observe that a large nonperturbative correction is needed to describe the differential jet shape data for jets with low transverse momentum. This is particularly pronounced close to the jet boundary, where no resummation of r/R is required, and the fixed-order expressions in eq. (2.15) clearly undershoot the data. (This was not so visible for the integrated jet shape, since everything is close to one.) For the higher transverse momentum bins, the agreement between the data and the purely perturbative results is improved and only a smaller nonperturbative correction is needed. However, close to the jet boundary, the ef-



Figure 13. Comparison of our numerical results for the differential jet shape  $\rho(r)$  to the CMS data of ref. [20]. The jets are obtained using anti- $k_T$  with R = 0.7 and,  $|\eta| < 0.5$  at  $E_{\rm cm} = 7$  TeV. We show the result for three intervals of the jet transverse momentum in the range of  $p_T = 30-1000$  GeV, as labeled in the different panels.

fect of the nonperturbative correction remains substantial, even for the highest  $p_T$  interval. We note that for  $p_T = 30\text{--}40 \text{ GeV}$ , the nonperturbative model causes the second bin to be higher than the first. This feature is already visible in figure 10, both for our model 2 and the curve for Pythia at hadron level, since the integrated jet shape is not the steepest at r = 0.

Next, we consider the CMS data set of ref. [20] for the differential jet shape  $\rho(r)$ , which was also measured at a center-of-mass energy of  $E_{\rm cm} = 7 \,{\rm TeV}$ . The kinematics of the reconstructed inclusive jet sample is similar to the setup from ATLAS, but now using anti- $k_T$  with R = 0.7,  $|\eta| < 0.5$  and dividing the jet transverse momentum  $p_T$  into several intervals in the range of 30–1000 GeV. In figure 13 we show the comparison of our numerical results with and without the nonperturbative contribution. We again fit the nonperturbative parameter f of "model 2", listing their values in table 3. These values are consistent with those obtained for ATLAS, in the cases for which we have a corresponding  $p_T$  interval. (They do not need to be exactly the same, given the difference in jet radius and rapidity interval.) We note again that even for the highest jet transverse momentum interval  $p_T = 600-1000 \,{\rm GeV}$  a significant nonperturbative correction is needed in order to describe the energy distribution close to the edge of the jet,  $r \leq R$ , as we also observed for the ATLAS data.

Finally, we compare to the differential jet shape measurement of CMS in ref. [23]. This data set was taken at  $\sqrt{s} = 2.76 \text{ TeV}$  as a baseline measurement for a heavy-ion analysis.



Figure 14. Comparison of the differential jet shape  $\rho(r)$  and the CMS data of ref. [23]. The jets are obtained using anti-k<sub>T</sub> with R = 0.3,  $p_T > 100$  GeV,  $0.3 < |\eta| < 2$  at  $E_{\rm cm} = 2.76$  TeV.

The jets were reconstructed with  $p_T > 100 \text{ GeV}$  and  $0.3 < |\eta| < 2$  using the anti- $k_T$  algorithm with R = 0.3. Analogous to the two data sets discussed above, the jet shape data is separated into six bins with a distance in r of 0.05. An additional cut of  $p_{Ti} > 1 \text{ GeV}$  was imposed on the transverse momentum of each particle in the jet, and only charged particles are used to determine the jet shape even though full jets are reconstructed. Furthermore, the jet  $p_T$  was smeared to account for the difference of the jet energy resolution between proton-proton and heavy-ion collisions. This should be kept in mind when comparing to our calculation, since we do not include these effects. Nevertheless, we find good agreement as shown in figure 14. The edge of the jet is still dominated by nonperturbative physics for R = 0.3. However, the data is closer to the purely perturbative result compared to the jet shape for a similar  $p_T$  interval in figure 12 for R = 0.6 jets. Indeed, the fitted value of the nonperturbative parameter f, see table 3, is about half of that for the  $p_T$  interval 110–160 GeV in the ATLAS data. This is not surprising, given the lower center-of-mass energy and the smaller jet radius. In general, we conclude that our numerical results agree well with the data, once the nonperturbative correction is taken into account.

# 7 Conclusions

In this paper we calculate the jet shape at next-to-leading logarithmic accuracy (NLL'). Specifically, we account for the single logarithms of the jet radius R and the double logarithms of r/R at next-to-leading logarithmic order, and match to next-to-leading order. To achieve this accuracy, the recoil of soft radiation on the jet axis must be included when  $r \ll R$ . This involves the one-loop calculation of a recoil-sensitive collinear function and rapidity logarithms, that we resum using the rapidity renormalization group, as well as non-global logarithms from in vs. out-of-jet soft radiation. Our calculation constitutes the first extension of this classic jet substructure observable beyond leading logarithmic accuracy.

The inclusion of higher-order corrections significantly reduces the uncertainty of the perturbative predictions. However, we also find that the effect of nonperturbative contributions are substantial at the LHC, in particular for low jet transverse momenta and close to the edge of the jet. To enable a comparison to the available data from ATLAS and CMS, we explored two one-parameter models, choosing the model that best captures these effects in PYTHIA. Including this, we find good agreement between our predictions and LHC data. One interesting future direction is to obtain predictions that can be compared to LEP and HERA data, where these nonperturbative effects should be substantially smaller. On the other hand, for the LHC it is natural to consider grooming, to reduce the contamination from these effects, which will be the topic of a forthcoming publication [66].

# Acknowledgments

We thank Y.-J. Lee, B. Nachman, D. Neill, N. Sato and F. Yuan for discussions and K. Lee for feedback on the manuscript. This work is supported by the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231, the LDRD Program of Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, by the ERC grant ERC-STG-2015-677323 and the D-ITP consortium, a program of the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO) that is funded by the Dutch Ministry of Education, Culture and Science (OCW).

# A Jet function for the jet shape when $r \lesssim R$

The jet function (or central subjet function) in eq. (2.2) for the anti- $k_T$  algorithm is up to one-loop order given by [8]

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{G}_{q}^{\text{jet}}(z,z_{r},p_{T}R,r/R,\mu) \\ &= \delta(1-z)\delta(1-z_{r}) + \frac{\alpha_{s}}{2\pi} \left\{ \delta(1-z_{r})L_{R}\left[P_{qq}(z) + P_{gq}(z)\right] - \delta(1-z_{r}) \left[ 2C_{F}(1+z^{2}) \left(\frac{\ln(1-z)}{1-z}\right)_{+} \right. \\ &+ 2P_{gq}(z)\ln(1-z) + C_{F} \right] + \delta(1-z)\theta \left(z_{r} > \frac{1}{2}\right) \left[P_{qq}(z_{r}) + P_{gq}(z_{r})\right] (L_{r/R} + 2\ln z_{r}) \\ &+ \theta(r < R/2) \left[ \delta(1-z)\delta(1-z_{r})C_{F}\left(\frac{7}{2} + 3\ln 2 - \frac{\pi^{2}}{3}\right) \right. \\ &- \delta(1-z)\theta \left(\frac{1}{2} < z_{r} < 1 - \frac{r}{R}\right) \left[P_{qq}(z_{r}) + P_{gq}(z_{r})\right] \left(L_{r/R} + 2\ln(1-z_{r})\right) \right] \\ &+ \theta(r > R/2) \left[ \delta(1-z)\delta(1-z_{r})C_{F}\left(-\frac{1}{2}L_{r/R}^{2} + \frac{3}{2}L_{r/R} - 2L_{r/R}\ln\left(1 - \frac{r}{R}\right) + 4\text{Li}_{2}\left(1 - \frac{r}{R}\right) \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} - \frac{2\pi^{2}}{3} + 6\frac{r}{R} \right) - \delta(1-z)\theta \left(\frac{1}{2} < z_{r} < \frac{r}{R}\right) \left[P_{qq}(z_{r}) + P_{gq}(z_{r})\right] \left(L_{r/R} + 2\ln z_{r}\right) \right] \right\}, \end{split}$$

 $\mathcal{G}_{q}^{\text{jet}}(z, z_r, p_T R, r/R, \mu)$ 

$$= \delta(1-z)\delta(1-z_r) + \frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi} \left\{ \delta(1-z_r)L_R \left[ P_{gg}(z) + 2n_f P_{qg}(z) \right] + \delta(1-z)\theta \left( z_r > \frac{1}{2} \right) \left[ P_{gg}(z_r) + 2n_f P_{qg}(z_r) \right] (L_{r/R} + 2\ln z_r) \right\}$$

$$-\delta(1-z_{r})\left[4C_{A}\frac{(1-z+z^{2})^{2}}{z}\left(\frac{\ln(1-z)}{1-z}\right)_{+}+4n_{f}\left(P_{qg}(z)\ln(1-z)+T_{F}z(1-z)\right)\right]$$

$$+\theta(r < R/2)\left[\delta(1-z)\delta(1-z_{r})\left(C_{A}\left(\frac{137}{36}+\frac{11}{3}\ln 2-\frac{\pi^{2}}{3}\right)-T_{F}n_{f}\left(\frac{23}{18}+\frac{4}{3}\ln 2\right)\right)\right]$$

$$-\delta(1-z)\theta\left(\frac{1}{2} < z_{r} < 1-\frac{r}{R}\right)\left[P_{gg}(z)+2n_{f}P_{qg}(z)\right]\left(L_{r/R}+2\ln(1-z_{r})\right)\right]$$

$$+\theta(r > R/2)\left[\delta(1-z)\delta(1-z_{r})\left[-\frac{C_{A}}{2}L_{r/R}^{2}+\frac{\beta_{0}}{2}L_{r/R}-2C_{A}L_{r/R}\ln\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)\right]$$

$$+4C_{A}\text{Li}_{2}\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)-C_{A}\frac{2\pi^{2}}{3}+C_{A}\left(\frac{8r}{R}-\frac{r^{2}}{R^{2}}+\frac{4r^{3}}{9R^{3}}\right)+T_{F}n_{f}\left(\frac{1}{3}-\frac{4r}{R}+\frac{2r^{2}}{R^{2}}-\frac{8r^{3}}{9R^{3}}\right)\right)$$

$$-\delta(1-z)\theta\left(\frac{1}{2} < z_{r} < \frac{r}{R}\right)\left[P_{gg}(z)+2n_{f}P_{qg}(z)\right]\left(L_{r/R}+2\ln z_{r}\right)\right]\right\}.$$
(A.1)

The splitting functions  $P_{ij}$  are given in eq. (2.6), and we use the following short-hand notation

$$L_R = \ln\left(\frac{\mu^2}{p_T^2 R^2}\right), \qquad L_r = \ln\left(\frac{\mu^2}{p_T^2 r^2}\right), \qquad L_{r/R} \equiv L_r - L_R = \ln\left(\frac{R^2}{r^2}\right).$$
 (A.2)

# **B** Anomalous dimensions

The one-loop anomalous dimensions directly follow from the expressions in sections 2.3, 2.4 and 3,

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{qq}^{H}(z,p_{T}R,\mu) &= \frac{\alpha_{s}}{\pi} \left[ C_{F} \left( -L_{R} - \frac{3}{2} \right) \,\delta(1-z) + P_{qq}(z) \right] \,, \\ \gamma_{qg}^{H}(z,p_{T}R,\mu) &= \frac{\alpha_{s}}{\pi} \, P_{gq}(z) \,, \\ \gamma_{gq}^{H}(z,p_{T}R,\mu) &= \frac{\alpha_{s}}{\pi} \left[ \left( -C_{A}L_{R} - \frac{1}{2}\beta_{0} \right) \,\delta(1-z) + P_{gg}(z) \right] \,, \\ \gamma_{gq}^{H}(z,p_{T}R,\mu) &= \frac{\alpha_{s}}{\pi} \, P_{qg}(z) \,, \\ \gamma_{q}^{C}(\mu,\nu/p_{T}) &= \frac{\alpha_{s}C_{F}}{\pi} \left( 2\ln\frac{\nu}{2p_{T}} + \frac{3}{2} \right) \,, \\ \gamma_{g}^{C}(\mu,\nu/p_{T}) &= \frac{\alpha_{s}C_{F}}{\pi} \left( 2C_{A}\ln\frac{\nu}{2p_{T}} + \frac{1}{2}\beta_{0} \right) \,, \\ \gamma_{q}^{S}(\mu,\nu R) &= \frac{\alpha_{s}C_{F}}{\pi} \ln\frac{4\mu^{2}}{\nu^{2}R^{2}} \,, \\ \gamma_{g}^{S}(\mu,\nu R) &= \frac{\alpha_{s}C_{A}}{\pi} \ln\frac{4\mu^{2}}{\nu^{2}R^{2}} \,, \end{split}$$

$$\gamma_{q}^{\nu}(k_{\perp},\mu) = 4\alpha_{s}C_{F} \frac{1}{\mu^{2}} \frac{1}{(k_{\perp}^{2}/\mu^{2})}_{+},$$
  
$$\gamma_{g}^{\nu}(k_{\perp},\mu) = 4\alpha_{s}C_{A} \frac{1}{\mu^{2}} \frac{1}{(k_{\perp}^{2}/\mu^{2})}_{+}.$$
 (B.1)

Here  $L_R$  is defined in eq. (A.2) and the splitting functions are given in eq. (2.6). To achieve NLL' accuracy, we include the two-loop cusp anomalous dimensions for the  $\ln \mu$  and  $\ln \nu$  terms in the anomalous dimensions. This amounts to multiplying these terms by

$$1 + \frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi} \left[ \left( \frac{67}{9} - \frac{\pi^2}{3} \right) C_A - \frac{20}{9} T_F n_f \right].$$
(B.2)

# C Rapidity anomalous dimension of the one-loop collinear function

We will now check that our expression for the collinear function satisfies the rapidity evolution equation in eq. (2.10), which expanded up to one-loop order reads

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\ln\nu} C_i^{(1)}(z_r, p_T r, k_\perp, \mu, \nu) = -\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 k'_\perp}{(2\pi)^2} \gamma_i^{\nu(1)}(k_\perp - k'_\perp, \mu) C_i^{(0)}(z_r, p_T r, k'_\perp, \mu, \nu) \,. \quad (C.1)$$

Note that  $\gamma_i^{\nu(1)}(k_{\perp})$  was already obtained from the soft function, so this provides a cross check. From eq. (3.21) we find that the left-hand side of eq. (C.1) is given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}C_{i,\theta< r}^{(1)}}{\mathrm{d}\ln\nu} = \Theta(k_{\perp} < p_T r)\,\delta(1-z_r)\,\frac{\alpha_s C_i}{2\pi^2} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi\,L_1 + \Theta(k_{\perp} > p_T r)\,\delta(1-z_r)\,\frac{\alpha_s C_i}{\pi^2} \int_{-\phi_{\mathrm{max}}}^{\phi_{\mathrm{max}}} \mathrm{d}\phi\,\ln\left(\frac{\beta_2^{\mathrm{min}}}{\beta_2^{\mathrm{max}}}\right),\tag{C.2}$$

where the color factor is given by  $C_q = C_F$  for quarks and  $C_g = C_A$  for gluons.

Since the terms in eq. (C.2) correspond to  $\theta < r$  and  $\theta > r$ , respectively, it is natural to split up the calculation of the right-hand side of eq. (C.1) in the same pieces. For  $\theta < r$  this requires computing,

$$\Theta(k_{\perp} < p_T r) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 k'_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{1}{\mu^2} \frac{1}{(k'_{\perp}^2/\mu^2)} \Theta\left(|k_{\perp} - k'_{\perp}| < p_T r\right)$$

$$= \Theta(k_{\perp} < p_T r) \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \int_0^{\left(\frac{p_T \beta_1^{\max}}{\mu}\right)^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}(k'_{\perp}^2/\mu^2)}{8\pi^2} \frac{1}{(k'_{\perp}^2/\mu^2)}_{\mu}$$

$$= -\Theta(k_{\perp} < p_T r) \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \, L_1(k_{\perp}) , \qquad (C.3)$$

which agrees with the first term in eq. (C.2) when including the overall factor of  $-4\alpha_s C_F$ . Here we used that  $|k_{\perp} - k'_{\perp}| < p_T r$  is equivalent to  $|k'_{\perp}| < p_T \beta_1^{\text{max}}$ , as it involves the same geometry used in the computation of the collinear function, see the left panel of figure 15.



Figure 15. The geometry of  $|k_{\perp} - k'_{\perp}| < p_T r$  for  $|k_{\perp}| < p_T r$  (left) and  $|k_{\perp}| > p_T r$  (right).

Similarly, for  $\theta < r$  we can rewrite the condition  $|k_{\perp} - k'_{\perp}| < p_T r$  as  $p_T \beta_2^{\min} < |k'_{\perp}| < p_T \beta_2^{\max}$  and  $-\phi_{\max} < \phi < \phi_{\max}$ , as is clear from the right panel of figure 15. This leads to

$$\Theta(k_{\perp} > p_T r) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 k'_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{1}{\mu^2} \frac{1}{(k'_{\perp}^2/\mu^2)} + \Theta\left(|k_{\perp} - k'_{\perp}| < p_T r\right)$$

$$= \Theta(k_{\perp} > p_T r) \int_{-\phi_{\mathrm{max}}}^{\phi_{\mathrm{max}}} \mathrm{d}\phi \int_{\left(\frac{p_T \beta_2^{\mathrm{max}}}{\mu}\right)^2}^{\left(\frac{p_T \beta_2^{\mathrm{max}}}{\mu}\right)^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}(k'_{\perp}^2/\mu^2)}{8\pi^2} \frac{1}{(k'_{\perp}^2/\mu^2)} +$$

$$= -\Theta(k_{\perp} < p_T r) \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \ln\left(\frac{\beta_2^{\mathrm{min}}}{\beta_2^{\mathrm{max}}}\right), \qquad (C.4)$$

yielding the second term on the right-hand side of eq. (C.2).

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

# References

- S.D. Ellis, Z. Kunszt and D.E. Soper, Jets at hadron colliders at order α<sub>s</sub><sup>3</sup>: A Look inside, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69 (1992) 3615 [hep-ph/9208249] [INSPIRE].
- [2] ATLAS collaboration, New ATLAS event generator tunes to 2010 data, ATL-PHYS-PUB-2011-008 (2011) [INSPIRE].
- [3] P. Gras et al., Systematics of quark/gluon tagging, JHEP 07 (2017) 091 [arXiv:1704.03878] [INSPIRE].
- [4] D. Adams et al., Towards an Understanding of the Correlations in Jet Substructure, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 409 [arXiv:1504.00679] [INSPIRE].
- [5] A.J. Larkoski, I. Moult and B. Nachman, Jet Substructure at the Large Hadron Collider: A Review of Recent Advances in Theory and Machine Learning, arXiv:1709.04464 [INSPIRE].

- [6] L. Asquith et al., Jet Substructure at the Large Hadron Collider: Experimental Review, arXiv:1803.06991 [INSPIRE].
- [7] D. Bertolini, T. Chan and J. Thaler, Jet Observables Without Jet Algorithms, JHEP 04 (2014) 013 [arXiv:1310.7584] [INSPIRE].
- [8] Z.-B. Kang, F. Ringer and W.J. Waalewijn, The Energy Distribution of Subjets and the Jet Shape, JHEP 07 (2017) 064 [arXiv:1705.05375] [INSPIRE].
- D. Neill, A. Papaefstathiou, W.J. Waalewijn and L. Zoppi, *Phenomenology with a recoil-free jet axis: TMD fragmentation and the jet shape*, *JHEP* 01 (2019) 067 [arXiv:1810.12915]
   [INSPIRE].
- [10] OPAL collaboration, QCD studies using a cone based jet finding algorithm for e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> collisions at LEP, Z. Phys. C 63 (1994) 197 [INSPIRE].
- [11] CDF collaboration, A Measurement of jet shapes in  $p\bar{p}$  collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 1.8$  TeV, Phys. Rev. Lett. **70** (1993) 713 [INSPIRE].
- [12] D0 collaboration, Transverse energy distributions within jets in  $p\bar{p}$  collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 1.8 \ TeV$ , Phys. Lett. **B 357** (1995) 500 [INSPIRE].
- [13] CDF collaboration, Study of jet shapes in inclusive jet production in  $p\bar{p}$  collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 1.96 \ TeV$ , Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 112002 [hep-ex/0505013] [INSPIRE].
- [14] H1 collaboration, Jets and energy flow in photon-proton collisions at HERA, Z. Phys. C 70 (1996) 17 [hep-ex/9511012] [INSPIRE].
- [15] H1 collaboration, Measurement of event shape variables in deep inelastic e p scattering, Phys. Lett. B 406 (1997) 256 [hep-ex/9706002] [INSPIRE].
- [16] H1 collaboration, Measurement of internal jet structure in dijet production in deep inelastic scattering at HERA, Nucl. Phys. B 545 (1999) 3 [hep-ex/9901010] [INSPIRE].
- [17] ZEUS collaboration, Measurement of jet shapes in high Q<sup>2</sup> deep inelastic scattering at HERA, Eur. Phys. J. C 8 (1999) 367 [hep-ex/9804001] [INSPIRE].
- [18] ZEUS collaboration, Measurement of jet shapes in photoproduction at HERA, Eur. Phys. J. C 2 (1998) 61 [hep-ex/9710002] [INSPIRE].
- [19] ATLAS collaboration, Study of Jet Shapes in Inclusive Jet Production in pp Collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$  using the ATLAS Detector, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 052003 [arXiv:1101.0070] [INSPIRE].
- [20] CMS collaboration, Shape, Transverse Size and Charged Hadron Multiplicity of Jets in pp Collisions at 7 TeV, JHEP 06 (2012) 160 [arXiv:1204.3170] [INSPIRE].
- [21] CDF collaboration, Measurement of b-jet Shapes in Inclusive Jet Production in  $p\bar{p}$  Collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 1.96 \ TeV$ , Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 072005 [arXiv:0806.1699] [INSPIRE].
- [22] ATLAS collaboration, Measurement of jet shapes in top-quark pair events at  $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$ using the ATLAS detector, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2676 [arXiv:1307.5749] [INSPIRE].
- [23] CMS collaboration, Modification of jet shapes in PbPb collisions at  $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 2.76$  TeV, Phys. Lett. **B** 730 (2014) 243 [arXiv:1310.0878] [INSPIRE].
- [24] CMS collaboration, Jet shapes for isolated photon-tagged jets in PbPb and pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}} = 5.02 \ TeV$ , CMS-PAS-HIN-18-006 (2018) [INSPIRE].

- [25] C.W. Bauer, S. Fleming and M.E. Luke, Summing Sudakov logarithms in  $B \to X_s \gamma$  in effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2000) 014006 [hep-ph/0005275] [INSPIRE].
- [26] C.W. Bauer, S. Fleming, D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, An Effective field theory for collinear and soft gluons: Heavy to light decays, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 114020 [hep-ph/0011336] [INSPIRE].
- [27] C.W. Bauer and I.W. Stewart, Invariant operators in collinear effective theory, Phys. Lett. B 516 (2001) 134 [hep-ph/0107001] [INSPIRE].
- [28] C.W. Bauer, D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, Soft collinear factorization in effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 054022 [hep-ph/0109045] [INSPIRE].
- M. Beneke, A.P. Chapovsky, M. Diehl and T. Feldmann, Soft collinear effective theory and heavy to light currents beyond leading power, Nucl. Phys. B 643 (2002) 431
   [hep-ph/0206152] [INSPIRE].
- [30] T. Kaufmann, A. Mukherjee and W. Vogelsang, Hadron Fragmentation Inside Jets in Hadronic Collisions, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 054015 [arXiv:1506.01415] [INSPIRE].
- [31] Z.-B. Kang, F. Ringer and I. Vitev, The semi-inclusive jet function in SCET and small radius resummation for inclusive jet production, JHEP 10 (2016) 125 [arXiv:1606.06732] [INSPIRE].
- [32] L. Dai, C. Kim and A.K. Leibovich, Fragmentation of a Jet with Small Radius, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 114023 [arXiv:1606.07411] [INSPIRE].
- [33] M. Dasgupta, F. Dreyer, G.P. Salam and G. Soyez, Small-radius jets to all orders in QCD, JHEP 04 (2015) 039 [arXiv:1411.5182] [INSPIRE].
- [34] Z.-B. Kang, F. Ringer and I. Vitev, Jet substructure using semi-inclusive jet functions in SCET, JHEP 11 (2016) 155 [arXiv:1606.07063] [INSPIRE].
- [35] D. Neill, I. Scimemi and W.J. Waalewijn, Jet axes and universal transverse-momentum-dependent fragmentation, JHEP 04 (2017) 020 [arXiv:1612.04817]
   [INSPIRE].
- [36] J.C. Collins, D.E. Soper and G.F. Sterman, *Transverse Momentum Distribution in Drell-Yan Pair and W and Z Boson Production*, *Nucl. Phys.* **B 250** (1985) 199 [INSPIRE].
- [37] T. Becher and M. Neubert, Drell-Yan Production at Small q<sub>T</sub>, Transverse Parton Distributions and the Collinear Anomaly, Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1665
   [arXiv:1007.4005] [INSPIRE].
- [38] J. Collins, Foundations of perturbative QCD, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (2013).
- [39] M.G. Echevarria, A. Idilbi and I. Scimemi, Factorization Theorem For Drell-Yan At Low q<sub>T</sub> And Transverse Momentum Distributions On-The-Light-Cone, JHEP 07 (2012) 002 [arXiv:1111.4996] [INSPIRE].
- [40] J.-Y. Chiu, A. Jain, D. Neill and I.Z. Rothstein, A Formalism for the Systematic Treatment of Rapidity Logarithms in Quantum Field Theory, JHEP 05 (2012) 084 [arXiv:1202.0814] [INSPIRE].
- [41] Z.-B. Kang, X. Liu, F. Ringer and H. Xing, The transverse momentum distribution of hadrons within jets, JHEP 11 (2017) 068 [arXiv:1705.08443] [INSPIRE].

- [42] M. Dasgupta and G.P. Salam, Resummation of nonglobal QCD observables, Phys. Lett. B 512 (2001) 323 [hep-ph/0104277] [INSPIRE].
- [43] M.H. Seymour, Jet shapes in hadron collisions: Higher orders, resummation and hadronization, Nucl. Phys. B 513 (1998) 269 [hep-ph/9707338] [INSPIRE].
- [44] H.-n. Li, Z. Li and C.P. Yuan, QCD resummation for jet substructures, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 152001 [arXiv:1107.4535] [INSPIRE].
- [45] Y.-T. Chien and I. Vitev, Jet Shape Resummation Using Soft-Collinear Effective Theory, JHEP 12 (2014) 061 [arXiv:1405.4293] [INSPIRE].
- [46] T. Sjöstrand et al., An Introduction to PYTHIA 8.2, Comput. Phys. Commun. 191 (2015) 159 [arXiv:1410.3012] [INSPIRE].
- [47] B. Jager, A. Schafer, M. Stratmann and W. Vogelsang, Next-to-leading order QCD corrections to high p<sub>T</sub> pion production in longitudinally polarized pp collisions, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 054005 [hep-ph/0211007] [INSPIRE].
- [48] A. Mukherjee and W. Vogelsang, Jet production in (un)polarized pp collisions: dependence on jet algorithm, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 094009 [arXiv:1209.1785] [INSPIRE].
- [49] J.-y. Chiu, A. Jain, D. Neill and I.Z. Rothstein, The Rapidity Renormalization Group, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 151601 [arXiv:1104.0881] [INSPIRE].
- [50] A.J. Larkoski, I. Moult and D. Neill, Non-Global Logarithms, Factorization and the Soft Substructure of Jets, JHEP 09 (2015) 143 [arXiv:1501.04596] [INSPIRE].
- [51] T. Becher, M. Neubert, L. Rothen and D.Y. Shao, Effective Field Theory for Jet Processes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 192001 [arXiv:1508.06645] [INSPIRE].
- [52] S. Caron-Huot, Resummation of non-global logarithms and the BFKL equation, JHEP 03 (2018) 036 [arXiv:1501.03754] [INSPIRE].
- [53] A. Banfi, M. Dasgupta, K. Khelifa-Kerfa and S. Marzani, Non-global logarithms and jet algorithms in high-p<sub>T</sub> jet shapes, JHEP 08 (2010) 064 [arXiv:1004.3483] [INSPIRE].
- [54] Y. Hatta and T. Ueda, Resummation of non-global logarithms at finite N<sub>c</sub>, Nucl. Phys. B 874 (2013) 808 [arXiv:1304.6930] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Banfi, G. Marchesini and G. Smye, Away from jet energy flow, JHEP 08 (2002) 006 [hep-ph/0206076] [INSPIRE].
- [56] M.D. Schwartz and H.X. Zhu, Nonglobal logarithms at three loops, four loops, five loops and beyond, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 065004 [arXiv:1403.4949] [INSPIRE].
- [57] S. Frixione, P. Nason and G. Ridolfi, Problems in the resummation of soft gluon effects in the transverse momentum distributions of massive vector bosons in hadronic collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 542 (1999) 311 [hep-ph/9809367] [INSPIRE].
- [58] P.F. Monni, E. Re and P. Torrielli, Higgs Transverse-Momentum Resummation in Direct Space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 242001 [arXiv:1604.02191] [INSPIRE].
- [59] M.A. Ebert and F.J. Tackmann, Resummation of Transverse Momentum Distributions in Distribution Space, JHEP 02 (2017) 110 [arXiv:1611.08610] [INSPIRE].
- [60] Z. Ligeti, I.W. Stewart and F.J. Tackmann, Treating the b quark distribution function with reliable uncertainties, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 114014 [arXiv:0807.1926] [INSPIRE].

- [61] R. Abbate, M. Fickinger, A.H. Hoang, V. Mateu and I.W. Stewart, *Thrust at*  $N^3LL$  with Power Corrections and a Precision Global Fit for  $\alpha_s(m_Z)$ , Phys. Rev. **D** 83 (2011) 074021 [arXiv:1006.3080] [INSPIRE].
- [62] D. Bertolini, M.P. Solon and J.R. Walsh, Integrated and Differential Accuracy in Resummed Cross Sections, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 054024 [arXiv:1701.07919] [INSPIRE].
- [63] M.G. Echevarria, T. Kasemets, J.-P. Lansberg, C. Pisano and A. Signori, Matching factorization theorems with an inverse-error weighting, Phys. Lett. B 781 (2018) 161 [arXiv:1801.01480] [INSPIRE].
- [64] M. Dasgupta, K. Khelifa-Kerfa, S. Marzani and M. Spannowsky, On jet mass distributions in Z + jet and dijet processes at the LHC, JHEP 10 (2012) 126 [arXiv:1207.1640] [INSPIRE].
- [65] S. Dulat et al., New parton distribution functions from a global analysis of quantum chromodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 033006 [arXiv:1506.07443] [INSPIRE].
- [66] P. Cal, Z.-B. Kang, K. Lee, F. Ringer and W.J. Waalewijn, in preparation.